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          1  LANDMARKS, PUBLIC SITING AND MARITIME USES

          2                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Welcome to the

          3  Land Use Subcommittee on Landmarks, Public Siting

          4  and Maritime Uses. My name is Jessica Lappin, I am

          5  the Chair.

          6                 We are joined today by Council Member

          7  Leroy Comrie from Queens, Council Member Jimmy Oddo

          8  from Staten Island, Council Member Annabel Palma of

          9  the Bronx, Council Member Charles Barron of

         10  Brooklyn, and Council Member Miguel Martinez of

         11  Manhattan.

         12                 There are three items on the agenda

         13  that are going to be laid over, two that are in

         14  Council Member Garodnick's district, the Henry

         15  Seligman residence and the Edey residence. We are

         16  also laying an item over in the Speaker's district,

         17  which is the landmarked designation of 486 and 488

         18  Greenwich Street House.

         19                 I wanted to open the hearing this

         20  morning, we have a number of items on the agenda, so

         21  we're going to start with an item in Council Member

         22  Yassky's district, the McCarren Play Center, and ask

         23  the Landmarks Commission to come and testify, and

         24  the Parks Department, too, if they're here to

         25  testify.
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          2                 MS. JACKIER: Good morning, Council

          3  members. My name is Diane Jackier, Director of

          4  External Affairs at the Landmarks Preservation

          5  Commission.

          6                 I am here today to testify on the

          7  Commission's designations of the Thomas Jefferson

          8  Play Center in Manhattan, the McCarren Play Center

          9  in Brooklyn and the Sunset Play Center, both

         10  interior and exterior as New York City landmarks.

         11                 On January 30th, 2007, the Landmarks

         12  Commission held a public hearing on the proposed

         13  designation. Several people spoke in favor,

         14  including Parks Commissioner Adrian Benepe and

         15  representatives of the Municipal Arts Society, the

         16  Historic Districts Council, the Society for the

         17  Architecture of the City, the Preservation League of

         18  Staten Island and Landmarks Conservancy.

         19                 A representative of Manhattan Borough

         20  President Scott Stringer also spoke in favor of the

         21  Thomas Jefferson Play Center and the McCarren Play

         22  Center.

         23                 In addition, for McCarren,

         24  representatives of Assembly Member Joseph Lentol,

         25  the Waterfront Preservation Alliance of Greenpoint
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          2  and Williamsburg, the McCarren Park Conservancy and

          3  at the time of designation, Council Member Rosie

          4  Mendez had spoken in favor of designation.

          5                 Several of the speakers also

          6  expressed support for the larger designation effort

          7  of all the WPA era pools. There were no speakers in

          8  opposition.

          9                 The Commission also received letters

         10  in support, including a letter from Council Member

         11  Sara Gonzalez, for the Sunset Play Center

         12  designations.

         13                 The Commission previously held public

         14  hearings on April 3rd, 1990 and September 11th,

         15  1990. On July 24th, 2007, the Commission designated

         16  the Thomas Jefferson Play Center, the McCarren Play

         17  Center and the interior and exterior of the Sunset

         18  Play Center as New York City landmarks.

         19                 All three of these pools are part of

         20  a group of 11 immense outdoor swimming pools opened

         21  in the summer of 1936, in a series of grand

         22  ceremonies presided over by Mayor Fiorello LaGuardia

         23  and Parks Commissioner Robert Moses.

         24                 All 11 of the pools were constructed

         25  largely with funding provided by the Works Progress
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          2  Administration, one of many New Deal agencies

          3  created in the 1930s to address the Great

          4  Depression.

          5                 Designed to accommodate a total of

          6  49,000 users simultaneously at locations throughout

          7  New York City's five boroughs, the new pool

          8  complexes quickly gained recognition as being among

          9  the most remarkable public facilities constructed in

         10  the country.

         11                 The pools were completed just two and

         12  a half years after the LaGuardia administration took

         13  office, and all but one survives relatively intact

         14  today.

         15                 At the start, the Parks Department

         16  adopted a list of shared guidelines for the entire

         17  pool project in order to enhance the efficiency of

         18  the design effort, unify the operations of each

         19  complex, and to meet the various local and federal

         20  requirements of the relief programs.

         21                 For example, each pool complex was to

         22  have separate swimming, diving and wading pools and

         23  a large bath house, the locker room sections, which

         24  doubled as gymnasiums during non-swimming months.

         25                 The bath houses would serve as the
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          2  centerpieces of each complex, would be distinctive

          3  pavilions that would establish the motif of each

          4  facility.

          5                 Despite the fact that the basic

          6  components were essentially the same and that the

          7  WPA required that only the least expensive materials

          8  be used, each of the swimming pool complexes is

          9  especially notable for its distinctive and unique

         10  setting, appearance and character. The team of

         11  designers, landscape architects and engineers

         12  assembled to execute the new pool complexes was

         13  comprised largely of staff members and consultants

         14  who had earlier worked for Moses at other government

         15  agencies, including Architect Aymar Embury II,

         16  landscape architects Gilmore D. Clarke and Allyn

         17  Jennings and civil engineers W. Earle Andrews and

         18  William H. Latham.

         19                 The Thomas Jefferson, McCarren and

         20  Sunset Play Centers all survive today as reminders

         21  of the impressive WPA structures built in New York

         22  City. The Commission urges you to affirm the

         23  designations.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Thank you, Ms.

         25  Jackier.
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          2                 I wanted to note for my colleagues

          3  that the three centers that Landmarks has mentioned,

          4  the Thomas Jefferson Play Center, which is in

          5  Melissa Mark-Viverito's district, she is not here

          6  today, but she has a letter that she has circulated

          7  to all of us, communicating her support. As you

          8  mentioned, Council Member Gonzalez has submitted

          9  testimony in support of the Sunset Play Centers, and

         10  Council Member Yassky has told me he plans to vote

         11  in support of the McCarren Play Center.

         12                 I wanted to ask a couple of questions

         13  specific to the McCarren Play Center and then ask my

         14  colleagues if they have questions about any of

         15  three.  I know that that is a site that's in need of

         16  extensive and significant capital investment and I

         17  think PlaNYC dedicates a significant chunk of money

         18  to that effort.

         19                 I wanted to ask if you could just

         20  speak for a minute before we designate a structure

         21  like this, what the City's plans are to restore it?

         22                 MS. JACKIER: I don't know if someone

         23  from the Parks Department is here to do that, but

         24  they would be able to better speak to that, but I

         25  know that there is a restoration effort here. They
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          2  have actually started some work here already, I know

          3  that it is being used currently to have concerts and

          4  different things, which is part of that effort, and

          5  they have been actively moving ahead with it. But I

          6  don't have anything in terms of the timetable, but

          7  it is absolutely something that they're moving

          8  forward with.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: We don't have

         10  anybody from Parks signed up to testify? I know that

         11  the Mayor's Office is here. Okay, I just want to

         12  communicate, if we're going to designate Parks

         13  Department property, somebody from the Parks

         14  Department should be here to answer these kinds of

         15  questions, because I think it's important to know. I

         16  think it's great that they have the money already

         17  dedicated in a capital plan to do this work, but I

         18  would like to have the opportunity to ask some

         19  further detailed questions about the work.

         20                 Do any of my colleagues have

         21  questions?

         22                 Okay, thank you very much.

         23                 MS. JACKIER: Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: So we're going to

         25  close the hearing on the McCarren Play Center. The

                                                            12

          1  LANDMARKS, PUBLIC SITING AND MARITIME USES

          2  Landmarks Commission has testified for all three at

          3  once, but I'm going to open and close the hearing on

          4  the McCarren Play Center. The Landmarks Commission

          5  has testified for all three at once, but I'm going

          6  to open and close the hearing on the Thomas

          7  Jefferson Play Center, since there is no one here

          8  signed up to testify, and open and close the hearing

          9  for the Sunset Play Center because we don't have

         10  anybody signed up to testify. Okay, those hearings

         11  are closed.

         12                 I wanted to open the hearing on PS

         13  99, the school in Council Member Arroyo's district,

         14  and ask the School Construction Authority to come

         15  up, please.

         16                 MR. SHAW: Good morning, Chairperson

         17  Lappin and Council members. My name is Gregory Shaw,

         18  I'm the Principal Attorney for Real Estate for New

         19  York City School Construction Authority.

         20                 To my immediate right is Richard

         21  Wetherbee, who is the environmental consultant for

         22  the School Construction Authority on this particular

         23  site. And further over is the Executive Director for

         24  the Office of Portfolio Management, Garth Harries,

         25  who is also here to answer any questions that you
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          2  might have.

          3                 The New York City School Construction

          4  Authority has undertaken the site selection process

          5  for the proposed 700-seat high school facility,

          6  located on the east side of Reverend James A. Plight

          7  Avenue, between 167th Street and Home Streets in Tax

          8  Block 2692, Lot 14, in the Borough of the Bronx. The

          9  school is also located in Community School District

         10  No. 12 and Bronx Community Board No. 2.

         11                 The proposed site is approximately

         12  67,000 square foot City-owned property. The site

         13  contains an existing three-story building containing

         14  60,000 square feet that was originally constructed

         15  for Public School PS 99 in the Bronx.

         16                 The former PS 99 school facility was

         17  surrendered by the Board of Education in 1979, at

         18  the time when school enrollment throughout the City

         19  of New York was in decline.

         20                 The building was reassigned to the

         21  New York City Human Resources

         22  Administration and was most recently used as the

         23  Morrisiana Multi-Service Center. HRA no longer had

         24  need -- currently, HRA had no longer need for the

         25  building and agreed to return jurisdiction and
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          2  control to the Department of Education.

          3                 Under the proposed plan, the existing

          4  building would be renovated by the School

          5  Construction Authority to accommodate the 700 high

          6  school facility.

          7                 The Notice of Filing for the Site

          8  Plan was published in the New York Post and the City

          9  Record on July 13th, 2007. Bronx Community Board No.

         10  2 was also notified of the site plan on July 13th,

         11  and was asked to hold a public hearing on the

         12  proposed plan.

         13                 Bronx Community Board No. 2 held its

         14  hearing on the site plan on August 27th, 2007, and

         15  subsequently sent written comments in support of

         16  high schools serving the district.

         17                 The City Planning Commission was also

         18  notified of the site plan on July 13, and it also

         19  recommended in favor of the site.

         20                 The SCA has considered all comments

         21  received on the proposed site plan and affirms the

         22  site plan pursuant to Section 1731 of the Public

         23  Authorities Law in accordance with Section 1732 of

         24  the Public Authorities Law, the SCA submitted the

         25  proposed site plan to the Mayor and City Council on
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          2  October 5th, 2007.

          3                 We look forward to your

          4  Subcommittee's favorable consideration of the

          5  proposed plan and we are here to answer any

          6  questions that you might have.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Thank you. I

          8  wanted to go through, you mentioned Bronx Community

          9  Board 2, some of the issues that have been raised in

         10  regards to this site.

         11                 One, I guess my question is, how will

         12  children be selected for this school? Will it be a

         13  zoned school? Will it be a Citywide school? Will it

         14  be a testing school?

         15                 MR. SHAW: I'm going to let the

         16  Executive Director Garth Harries answer the question

         17  for you.

         18                 MR. HARRIES: Thank you, Greg. And

         19  thank you, Subcommittee and Chair.

         20                 The schools as yet need to be

         21  finalized, what will be in the facility.  All high

         22  school admission in New York City schools happens

         23  through the High School Choice process. That allows

         24  a preference for the Borough. So there will be a

         25  preference for students from the Borough of
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          2  Manhattan.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Borough of

          4  Manhattan or the Borough of the Bronx?

          5                 MR. HARRIES: Sorry, the Bronx. Excuse

          6  me.

          7                 And that high school admission

          8  process is one that I'm sure the Council members are

          9  familiar with.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Is this something

         11  you're still discussing with the Council Member and

         12  the Community Board?

         13                 MR. HARRIES: We're discussing the

         14  specific schools that will go into the location. The

         15  admission process would be the same regardless.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: What about the

         17  environmental concerns that were addressed?

         18                 MR. SHAW: At this time I would like

         19  to have Rich Wetherbee, who is our Environmental

         20  Consultant, answer any questions you have regarding

         21  environmental conditions.

         22                 MR. WETHERBEE: The SCA performed a

         23  phase 1 and phase 2 environmental assessment of the

         24  property, and the phase 1 identified no concerns

         25  specific with the site itself, however, some
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          2  off-site properties were identified as potential

          3  concerns. Extensive testing of soil, sub-slab vapor

          4  and indoor air were performed, and those results

          5  indicated that there was no concern at the school.

          6                 There were some environmental

          7  conditions, such as asbestos-containing materials,

          8  lead-based paint, those types of things found in the

          9  building materials, however, those will be addressed

         10  as part of the renovation activities.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: I think there was

         12  a general concern with the high rates of asthma in

         13  the surrounding community. So is that something that

         14  has been addressed at all, or anything in terms of

         15  this particular location that the community needs to

         16  know about?

         17                 MR. OU: Good morning, Council

         18  members. My name is Kenrik Ou, I'm Director of

         19  Operations for the New York City School Construction

         20  Authority.

         21                 I had attended the Community Board

         22  No. 2's hearing and where they had expressed the

         23  concern about the air quality within the

         24  neighborhood. And following that meeting, our design

         25  team, we reviewed the plans for the renovation and I
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          2  want to clarify that this project includes upgrading

          3  the ventilation systems and the installation of

          4  filters to assist in controlling the particulates

          5  within the building.

          6                 So, following that concern we did

          7  review it and that design includes those measures.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: So now it will be

          9  -- is it going to be an improvement?

         10                 MR. OU: Yes.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Okay.

         12                 And then I think the last thing I

         13  wanted to raise, this is a building that has been

         14  used as a multi-service center, beloved by the

         15  community, and I know there have been discussions

         16  about having space that will still be available for

         17  the community; could one of you address that?

         18                 MR. OU: The former occupants of the

         19  multi-service center, as you may be aware there had

         20  been some litigation and they have since surrendered

         21  possession and are no longer using the space.

         22                 My understanding is that once the

         23  facility is renovated and upgraded and the

         24  Department of Education schools have been selected

         25  and are in fact using the space, that the individual
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          2  principals and the Department of Education would

          3  make in the course of regular events decisions on

          4  what types of community activities the space could

          5  be used for outside of school hours.

          6                 My understanding is that --

          7                 MR. HARRIES: And it's worth that for

          8  us in any school's best practices, to incorporate

          9  the community as deeply as possible in the school

         10  operations. So, some of what the specifics are

         11  depend on what the schools are and what the actual

         12  arrangement is. That's part of the ongoing

         13  discussions we'd expect the school to have.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: So, it sounds to

         15  me like there are still some ongoing discussions and

         16  decisions to be made about the schools and the

         17  access to the community.

         18                 Do my colleagues have questions?

         19                 Council Member Comrie.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Two items.

         21  Number one, where is Council Member Arroyo in this

         22  issue? Is she in approval of this siting?

         23                 MR. HARRIES: My impression is she has

         24  been supportive of it. She is the person who we're

         25  talking to in most detail about where the specific
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          2  schools are that are going into the location.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Say that

          4  again?

          5                 MR. HARRIES: I don't want to speak

          6  for the Councilwoman. We met with her as recently as

          7  last week about the specific schools.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: You're really

          9  not clear then? Because it seems to me, reading the

         10  letter from the community board, they wanted access

         11  to have a center there, not just an access at the

         12  school level but an access to have a multi-purpose

         13  center there that they could have a daily evening or

         14  after school-type environment; has anything been

         15  worked out for that type of level? Not just what you

         16  said about every community having access to a

         17  school?

         18                 And I think what they're asking for

         19  is clearly to continue having an opportunity for

         20  children to either have an after school center at

         21  that location, and what kind of permanent

         22  relationship would that be as opposed to a

         23  relationship that may be dependent upon the

         24  principal's whim?

         25                 MR. HARRIES: My impression is that
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          2  the issue that is the greatest focus for the

          3  Councilwoman is what are the schools that are going

          4  in? And she hasn't raised that particular issue with

          5  me.

          6                 I do know that that's something that

          7  was in the community board letter, and, you know,

          8  the site plan for the facility is for a 700-seat

          9  high school which we desperately need in the Bronx.

         10  There is not seats set aside for a full-time

         11  community center.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: There is no

         13  community space that's going to be set up, or

         14  gymnasium slash --

         15                 MR. HARRIES: That's my understanding,

         16  correct.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay. I was

         18  going to get to the other issue you raised in a

         19  minute about whether or not the schools -- someone

         20  spoke earlier and said that the schools would be

         21  opened under the general high school process, and

         22  that anyone from the Bronx could apply for the

         23  school? But then that could mean that anyone

         24  Citywide could apply for the school either, correct?

         25                 MR. HARRIES: That's correct. The way
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          2  it would work, as it does with other high school

          3  admissions, is that there would be a preference for

          4  students from the Bronx. So, as long as enough kids

          5  from the Bronx applied, they would get first pick,

          6  and if it didn't fill with kids from the Bronx, we

          7  would fill it -- we would get some other boroughs

          8  who wanted to go to the school.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: But you don't

         10  have the schools designated yet that would be in

         11  that facility, right? You're talking about doing

         12  more than one high school in that facility?

         13                 MR. HARRIES: We're talking about

         14  having two high schools in the facility, and we've

         15  had discussions with the community board and the

         16  Councilwoman about what those schools would be.

         17                 We haven't finally designated them,

         18  we have a number of plans.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay. When do

         20  you expect the school to be on line with the

         21  construction?

         22                 MR. HARRIES: It's a construction

         23  question.

         24                 MR. OU: Currently we anticipate the

         25  construction, the renovations to be complete in
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          2  January of 2009. That assumes, you know, if we get

          3  the necessary approvals.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: And do you

          5  consider schools, present charter schools that are

          6  looking for space now in the Bronx? If I recall,

          7  there are at least Charter schools in the Bronx that

          8  are up and established and they need more space,

          9  they've been butting against other schools, they're

         10  sited within other high schools; would they get

         11  first crack at this particular school, or is this

         12  just open to a new general process with the

         13  possibility of a brand new school being created and

         14  sited there; how does your preference work?

         15                 MR. HARRIES: Absolutely, Councilman.

         16  Both Charter and DOE -- the first preference would

         17  be for DOE public schools. And there are a number of

         18  those, as you note, in the Bronx that need their

         19  final locations.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Right. All of

         21  those schools that were set up -- I can't remember

         22  the name of the program.

         23                 MR. HARRIES: It's the new century

         24  program.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: New century,
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          2  that's correct.

          3                 MR. HARRIES: So those are ones that

          4  we would prioritize, but that's part of our

          5  discussion with the Councilwoman. Clearly, any

          6  school that's been created needs a final location,

          7  and we're committed to make sure those schools,

          8  given their success, have appropriate facilities.

          9  So, it depends where that rests.

         10                 First we will answer the question of

         11  where all those schools will end up, and then if

         12  there is space, we will consider creating a new

         13  school for the facility.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay. So,

         15  those schools would get first crack at this new

         16  building then?

         17                 MR. HARRIES: Correct.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay.

         19                 You mentioned particulate matter that

         20  needed to be abated; can you go into some detail

         21  about that? You mentioned some filtering for

         22  particulate matter that was going to be further

         23  abated. Can you speak on that in a little bit more

         24  detail? How long has that particulate matter been

         25  there and what kind of matter are we talking about?
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          2  And what kind of abatement are we talking about?

          3                 MR. OU: Sure. We had met with the

          4  community board in the context of their public

          5  hearing on this facility. One of the concerns and

          6  they have stated it in their letter, was about the

          7  high incidence of asthma in the area, and their

          8  question to us as the SCA was, what measures are you

          9  taking to improve the quality of the air inside the

         10  building. And because at the end of the day this is

         11  a renovation project, what our architects and

         12  engineers did was they reevaluated what they could

         13  do within a context of an existing building and they

         14  identified measures which have been incorporated

         15  which include the installation of filters to enhance

         16  the air quality. So, that was actually a measure

         17  that we took after we became aware of this

         18  particular concern on the part of the Community

         19  Board.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Well, you

         21  haven't identified anything within the building,

         22  you're just doing a preventative?

         23                 MR. OU: That's right. There are

         24  issues with the ambient air quality in the

         25  neighborhood and also throughout the City, and the
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          2  insulation of these filters is what we determine to

          3  be a feasible measure to incorporate.

          4                 All right, I don't have any other

          5  questions right now, but I may have after I talk to

          6  the Council member.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: I think there are

          8  still questions outstanding --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Right.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Particularly as I

         11  mentioned before, relating to what schools and the

         12  community use.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Right.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: So, we're not

         15  going to vote on this item today.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Right. I

         17  agree. I think that the idea and the need of the

         18  community to have some community use is clearly

         19  stated in their letter, and I'm sure that the

         20  Council member will want to work that out, and I

         21  will be more than happy to help her work that out.

         22                 This is like the sixth school being

         23  cited in your district?

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: And I wanted to

         25  note we've been joined by Council Member Arroyo.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Thank you,

          3  Madam Chair.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Okay, we're going

          5  to close this hearing, since there is nobody else

          6  here to testify on this item. Thank you, gentlemen.

          7                 Before I ask the Council to call for

          8  a vote on the items we have heard so far, with the

          9  exception of PS 99, I wanted to note for my

         10  colleagues that this meeting is going to be recessed

         11  today until Wednesday, October 17th, at 10:00 a.m.

         12  This meeting of the Landmarks Subcommittee is going

         13  to be recessed until October 17th at 10:00 a.m.

         14                 And with that, I would like to ask

         15  the counsel to call for a vote, and I recommend a

         16  favorable vote.

         17                 Oh, my mistake. It's at 9:45 a.m. The

         18  full Land Use Committee will be at 10:00 a.m.

         19  October 17th, 9:45 a.m. Not tomorrow. October 17th,

         20  9:45 a.m.

         21                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Chair Lappin.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Aye.

         23                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Council Member

         24  Barron.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Madam Chair,
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          2  may I be excused to explain my vote?

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: So ordered.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: I wanted to

          5  bring attention to the Thomas Jefferson Park.

          6  Personally I have nothing against the Park itself

          7  being designated, but here in the City Council, as

          8  you know with my recent history, the name means a

          9  lot, especially when the name was Sonny Carson, for

         10  a four blocks in our neighborhood. The name meant so

         11  much. It was so offensive to the Speaker, and most

         12  of the white members of the Council, that they voted

         13  against the black community, naming a street after

         14  whom we consider a hero, Sonny Abubadika Carson, and

         15  even though the Planning Board voted 39 to 1, the

         16  local Councilman, the Chair of the Parks Committee

         17  voted for the name, the white members of the City

         18  Council predominantly decided that shouldn't happen

         19  because they didn't like Sonny Carson. I don't like

         20  Thomas Jefferson. Thomas Jefferson was a

         21  slave-holding pedophile.  He may be a hero to some

         22  of you, but to us on Monticello, he owned a whole

         23  lot of slaves, and raped Sally Hemmings. This is all

         24  history, I'm not making it up. You can even read in

         25  some of the white history books, they tell you that.
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          2  He raped Sally Hemmings, a 14-year-old African girl

          3  that he enslaved.

          4                 So, for me to sit here and try to

          5  preserve his name, and even the Commission should be

          6  more concerned about that, since this City, led by

          7  this City Council is so concerned about names of

          8  streets and buildings and parks, when the black

          9  community says that we don't want slave-holders'

         10  names on our streets and our parks and our

         11  playgrounds, the City ignores it. When we want to

         12  put someone up that the white community might not

         13  like, it gets rejected.

         14                 So, for that reason, to be

         15  consistent, and I'm hoping the Landmarks Commission,

         16  I see the Commissioner back there, Thomas Jefferson

         17  is not a good guy, Commissioner. I would hope that

         18  the Commissioner could look at these names and some

         19  people might consider this trivial or ridiculous or

         20  whatever, but you didn't feel that way when it came

         21  to Sonny Carson. It was a major issue, so much so

         22  that the Speaker had to galvanize forces to stop

         23  Sonny Carson.

         24                 So, on, you know, item 20085037 HKM,

         25  the landmarking of the Jefferson Play Center, I vote
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          2  no and aye on all other items.

          3                 And I do have to leave, Madam Chair,

          4  and I just hope we all support Sunnyside Gardens,

          5  when we come up to a vote on that on another time.

          6  Because I met with them, it's a wonderful community,

          7  and I wish you the best.

          8                 Thank you.

          9                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Council Member

         10  Comrie.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: I just want to

         12  be clear. We're voting on the pool designations

         13  only, correct?

         14                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Correct.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: We didn't have

         16  the hearing on Sunnyside, that's coming up next.

         17                 I want to vote aye on the full

         18  designation, also noting being uncomfortable with,

         19  and having an opportunity to look at names and

         20  renaming one of the pools, clearly that is an issue.

         21  I vote aye on all. I'll be right back.

         22                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Council Member

         23  Martinez.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: I vote aye.

         25                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Council Member
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          2  Palma.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: Aye.

          4                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Council Member

          5  Arroyo.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: Aye.

          7                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: The vote stands

          8  six in the affirmative. Items 20085013, 20085044,

          9  20085045 and 20085046, six in the affirmative, none

         10  in the negative, no abstentions. On item 20085037 it

         11  is five in the affirmative, one in the negative.

         12                 The items pass to the full Land Use

         13  Committee.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Why don't we hold

         15  the vote open for Council Member Oddo, who just had

         16  to step out for a moment.

         17                 And open the hearing now on Sunnyside

         18  Gardens. I wanted to note we've been joined by

         19  Council Member Eric Gioia, in whose district

         20  Sunnyside Garden is located. And ask the Chair of

         21  the Landmarks Commission, Bob Tierney, and Ms.

         22  Jackier, and whoever else is accompanying Mr.

         23  Tierney, to come and make their presentation.

         24                 Welcome, and please begin whenever

         25  you're ready.
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          2                 CHAIRMAN TIERNEY: I will. Thank you

          3  very much, Chair Lappin, Honorable Council Members,

          4  Eric Gioia, other members of this Committee. And I

          5  just left the public hearing that I was chairing to

          6  come here to testify, I'm not sure which spot is

          7  better, but they're both carrying out this

          8  trusteeship, as I call it, as Chairman of the

          9  Landmarks Commission, and this is a big day for

         10  that.

         11                 Again, good morning, Chair Lappin,

         12  honorable Council members. My name is Bob Tierney,

         13  Chairman of the Landmarks Commission, and I'm here

         14  today to testify in favor of the Commission's

         15  designation of the Sunnyside Gardens Historic

         16  District.

         17                 I have Sarah Carroll on my right, who

         18  is Director of Preservation in the Landmarks

         19  Commission, and Diane Jackier, on my left, the

         20  Director of External Affairs, who are going to help

         21  me get through, both are going to help me get

         22  through the intricacies of this testimony.

         23                 And I've been interested, extremely

         24  interested in Sunnyside Gardens as a potential

         25  historic district, officially since being appointed
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          2  by Mayor Bloomberg Chair of the Commission in 2003.

          3  Before that in my own sort of interest in that area,

          4  in Sunnyside Gardens generally, and it became -- it

          5  was something that I wanted to have reviewed

          6  promptly, and it's recognized nationally and

          7  internationally as one of the most significant

          8  planned residential communities, not only in New

          9  York City, but also throughout the country, and this

         10  neighborhood is internationally renown, and is

         11  important because of its history, the site plan, the

         12  open landscape courtyards, and its simple, yet

         13  sophisticated architecture and construction. Simply

         14  put, it's a unique part of New York City with a

         15  distinct sense of place, and that is the very

         16  definition of a historic district.

         17                 As you have all heard me say many

         18  times, one of my goals as Chair of this Commission

         19  has been to designate more buildings outside

         20  Manhattan, in addition to inside Manhattan, of

         21  course, but to look Citywide, and I've done that

         22  from the very beginning and with the 624 buildings

         23  in Sunnyside, it will be the largest historic

         24  district in Queens, and also the largest historic

         25  district that the Commission has designated in more
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          2  than a decade. So, on all of those scores, I'm very

          3  proud to be here carrying this message to this

          4  Council. And we will start with Sunnyside Gardens

          5  was the creation of architect Clarence Stein and

          6  Henry Wright, along with the City Housing

          7  Corporation led by developer Alexander Bing.

          8  Constructed between 1924 and 1928, it consists of a

          9  series of 12 courts, composed of rows of townhouses

         10  and small apartment buildings built on all or part

         11  of 16 blocks.

         12                 The historic district, and you see

         13  the map to my left, is bounded roughly by Barnett

         14  Avenue to the north, 43rd Street to the west,

         15  Skillman Avenue to the south, although it jobs down

         16  47th Street, just about to Queens Boulevard, and

         17  then it jobs around to 52nd Street on the east.

         18                 Next slide. The designated area also

         19  includes the Phipps Garden Apartment Buildings,

         20  which are two courtyard apartment buildings

         21  constructed and designed by Stein in 1931 and '32

         22  and in 1935, and also Sunnyside Park.

         23                 Next slide shows the development at

         24  Sunnyside Gardens, was the first practical

         25  application of the architecture and planning
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          2  concepts developed by the Regional Planning

          3  Association of America. The RPAA was a diverse group

          4  that met from 1923 to '31 to examine the roots of

          5  the country's housing crisis, and to try to find new

          6  approaches to providing quality housing for

          7  lower-income workers.

          8                 They studied a wide variety of issues

          9  linked to housing, including financing, urban

         10  regional plan in the environment and sociological

         11  aspects of City life and became convinced that the

         12  existing problems could not be fixed solely through

         13  better architecture, although that helped. Sunnyside

         14  was the first effort of this group to create a

         15  physical solution to the problems that they had

         16  found.

         17                 In order to safe costs, the

         18  designers, Wright and Stein, had planned to

         19  eliminate some streets to create larger blocks for

         20  Sunnyside Gardens. Since they were not allowed to do

         21  it because of the street grid had already been

         22  established in Queens when they began, they

         23  eliminated the lot divisions and worked with entire

         24  City blocks as their unit of planning. The first

         25  block was Colonial Court between 32rd and Skillman
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          2  Avenues and 47th and 48th Streets.

          3                 Begun in the early spring of 1924 and

          4  finished by the fall, the City Housing Corporation

          5  was able to move on to Hamilton Court in the spring

          6  of 1925.

          7                 Speaking of Hamilton Court, by May 1,

          8  1926, the CHC had constructed homes for

          9  approximately 600 families. They continued to build

         10  on the rest of the area over the next two years, and

         11  by fall of 1928, they deemed Sunnyside Gardens

         12  complete. In all, they had provided residences for

         13  more than 1,200 families and now the montages of the

         14  rows, the design of Sunnyside Gardens includes the

         15  layout of the entire community, the planning of each

         16  individual block, as well as the plan and exterior

         17  design of the individual units.

         18                 Stein and Wright did not want the

         19  architecture to appear revolutionary, since so many

         20  other ideas they were introducing were more unusual,

         21  and I think they wanted to go perhaps a little more

         22  moderate, if you will, on the architecture,

         23  restrained perhaps. They designed the houses in a

         24  somewhat familiar simplified Colonial Revival style.

         25  Since their goals for this project were both
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          2  aesthetic and sociological, the designers chose to

          3  combine different types of housing and apartments

          4  within the courts.

          5                 The row houses were divided into 26

          6  distinct types, ranging from two to five bays, based

          7  on the front fenestration pattern, the windows in

          8  the front.

          9                 By combining buildings with several

         10  types of layouts, roof outlines, heights, detailing

         11  in sizes, they created a sophisticated streetscape

         12  with visual variety and interest.

         13                 Although many developers were

         14  creating large scale apartment buildings at this

         15  time, the designers of Sunnyside believe that more

         16  human scale buildings would further their goals of

         17  the community.

         18                 The buildings are simply designed on

         19  both the interior and exterior and rely

         20  aesthetically on material proportion and arrangement

         21  rather than extensive applied ornament.

         22                 Now, inside the Hamilton Interior

         23  Court.

         24                 Generally the houses were arranged in

         25  perimeter rows next to the street, close to the
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          2  street, with large open areas behind them, located

          3  in the interiors of the blocks. There were small

          4  private gardens behind each house, about 30 feet

          5  deep, but most of the space was devoted to shared

          6  open court yards. Then we go to the Washington Court

          7  pathway. The individual houses were grouped in rows

          8  with the groups separated from each other by

          9  pathways that allowed access to the common gardens

         10  and traverse the blocks from street to street.

         11                 Jefferson Court Plan. Different

         12  courts had variations of these layouts. Two of the

         13  later courts were arranged as mews, perpendicular to

         14  the streets with their courtyards enclosed by the

         15  houses.

         16                 On the whole the buildings covered,

         17  and this is significant and this remains

         18  significant, only 28 percent of the land, which

         19  created an unusually large amount of open space.

         20                 This access to open greenspace was

         21  the basic tenet of the design of Sunnyside Gardens

         22  for several reasons. First, they could have a

         23  variety of uses, and would contribute to the sense

         24  of community they were trying to create at

         25  Sunnyside.
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          2                 Second, by incorporating large

          3  amounts of greenspace in their overall designs, the

          4  architects felt that they were able to provide

          5  smaller living spaces with the common gardens

          6  serving as extensions of the living room areas for

          7  the residents. For the entire development the total

          8  area of the common gardens is almost six acres.

          9                 The landscape designer for Sunnyside

         10  Gardens, Marjorie Cautley, part of the RPAA, and one

         11  of the first women landscape architects of great

         12  prominence, believes strongly in the importance of

         13  the landscape to create a healthier environment and

         14  was devoted to creating economically feasible and

         15  sustainable landscapes to support and enhance

         16  affordable housing projects.

         17                 Each court was laid out with a

         18  horticulturally unique garden, intended to engage

         19  the community in an experience of nature and

         20  landscape.

         21                 The centers of the courts were often

         22  open lawns with trees and shrubbery surrounded by

         23  hedges and ground cover while the streets were

         24  planted with Sycamores and London Plain Trees that

         25  were intended to mature into a green canopy for the
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          2  area. And speaking for that canopy, because the

          3  planners and architects wanted to ensure that their

          4  carefully designed neighborhood would continue, they

          5  attached easements to the deeds of the property

          6  initially sold at Sunnyside. The primary purpose of

          7  the easements was to create and control the open

          8  space for the benefit of all the residents, although

          9  the property owners owned their entire lots.

         10  Running to the center line of the block, the

         11  easements ensured that the central common space

         12  would remain open for communal use.

         13                 These rules helped ensure that the

         14  plans and designs of the architects would remain in

         15  effect and that the desired visual unity would

         16  continue.

         17                 Unfortunately, most of those

         18  easements expired after 40 years and only one court,

         19  Hamilton Court, agreed to an extension. So, another

         20  reason, among many, that designation by this

         21  Commission is an appropriate step to achieve, not

         22  only original goals of Sunnyside, but to perpetuate

         23  those goals and the achievement of those goals in

         24  the future, and the protection that this historic

         25  area deserves.
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          2                 For the first ten years of its

          3  existence, Sunnyside Gardens functioned as its

          4  designers and developers had hoped. Alexander Bing

          5  and City Housing developed what was then considered

          6  to be a unique financing plan for Sunnyside Gardens

          7  which allowed the homes to be accessible to many

          8  people who could not otherwise afford to purchase

          9  them because of the low initial cost and the ability

         10  to secure second mortgages that could be repaid over

         11  a long period of time.

         12                 The development attracted a cross

         13  section of those of moderate means, as it was

         14  described, including people with many ethnic

         15  backgrounds.

         16                 Half of the first residents moved to

         17  Sunnyside Gardens from the Lower East Side. This is

         18  the New York progression at that time and continuing

         19  in different expressions throughout this City and

         20  what gives such great vitality and strength to the

         21  City.

         22                 From the 1940s to the mid-sixties,

         23  young families and artists moved to Sunnyside from

         24  other more crowded parts of the City.

         25                 Well known residents of that period
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          2  included Rudy Vallee, Judy Holliday, Perry como, and

          3  trumpeter Bix Beiderbecke. I may be the only one who

          4  remembers all of them, looking at these Committee

          5  members, and some of them actually predate even me.

          6                 But in 1974, the City Planning

          7  Commission designated the area a special plan

          8  community preservation district, one of four in the

          9  City, and required permits for certain exterior

         10  changes to the buildings and landscape.

         11                 Finally, Sunnyside Gardens has

         12  continued to house people of many different

         13  backgrounds and ethnic backgrounds and cultural

         14  backgrounds, and maintains many of the features that

         15  have made it nationally and internationally

         16  recognized as an important model in the fields of

         17  housing, architecture, real estate, Finance and

         18  Urban Regional Planning. I mean, the words that

         19  we've been using here today, that I've been using,

         20  affordable housing, environmental safeguards and

         21  greenness, are with us today, very, very much so,

         22  and are still the subject of great interest and

         23  great debate and are part of the urban, become part

         24  of the urban fabric. And Sunnyside was a leader,

         25  there is no question about it, and there is a lot to
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          2  be learned, even now, from Sunnyside. It

          3  demonstrated that innovative large-scale design and

          4  creative site planning achieved by the architects

          5  could produce a superior residential environment

          6  with an exceptional amount of open space available

          7  to its residents for the benefits of nature, light

          8  and recreation. It was the first effort of the RPAA

          9  to show the positive effects that regional planning

         10  and low-cost capital could have on housing, and was

         11  the basis from which they moved on to innovation and

         12  planning and design achieved in other parts of the

         13  country.

         14                 Long-time resident Lewis Mumford,

         15  this is a well-traveled quote, and he actually lived

         16  there, as I said, long-time resident, called

         17  Sunnyside Gardens "an exceptional community laid out

         18  by people who are deeply human and who gave the

         19  place a permanent expression of that humanness."

         20                 When the Landmarks Commission held

         21  its hearing on the proposed designation of Sunnyside

         22  Gardens on April 17, 2007, 138 people expressed

         23  support for designation, including representatives

         24  of State Assemblywoman Margaret Markey, Borough

         25  President Helen Marshall, the Municipal Arts
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          2  Society, the AIA of Queens and New York Chapters,

          3  the Regional Plan Association, the Historic

          4  Districts Council, the Richmond Hill Society, the

          5  Newbergh Colonial Terrace Society, Greater Astoria

          6  Historical Society, the Queens Preservation Council,

          7  the Metropolitan Historic Structures, Radburn

          8  Historic Preservation Society, the Rego Park

          9  Preservation Council, and numerous citizens and

         10  local residents. Speakers representing Washington

         11  Court and the Harrison Place Associations testified

         12  that a majority of their residents were in favor of

         13  designation.

         14                 There were 27 speakers opposed to

         15  designation, including representatives of the

         16  Sunnyside Gardens Coalition, Preserve Sunnyside

         17  Gardens and the Institute for Justice.

         18                 In addition, the Commission received

         19  hundreds of letters and petitions regarding

         20  designation, the majority of which has been in favor

         21  of designation, including a letter of support from

         22  Assemblymember Cathy Nolan. As I said at the outset,

         23  I wanted to note, and throughout this effort, the

         24  enormously important support of Councilman Gioia in

         25  these efforts.
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          2                 And on June 26th, 2007, the Landmarks

          3  Commission voted unanimously to designate Sunnyside

          4  Gardens a New York Historic District. At that time

          5  Commissioners, and the discussion of the

          6  Commissioners specifically stated that open spaces

          7  and site planning of the neighborhood needed to be

          8  preserved.

          9                 To ensure this protection, the

         10  Commission, and I'm making this commitment on behalf

         11  of the Commission today, will bring applications for

         12  all rear-yard additions in Sunnyside to a public

         13  hearing, so that Commissioners will make that

         14  evaluation and determination.

         15                 City Planning has introduced a text

         16  amendment to modify the planned community district

         17  in Sunnyside which will eliminate duplicative review

         18  by removing the special permit requirements for

         19  developments or substantial alterations to the

         20  building footprints or landscaping.

         21                 We had been working closely with City

         22  Planning to ensure that the special features both of

         23  our agencies have identified are protected for the

         24  future.

         25                 With respect to other regulations in
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          2  the district, besides the rear yards that I've just

          3  alluded to, the Commission's existing rules and

          4  regulations have been worked thus far, because it

          5  was designated on June 26th to come into effect, in

          6  terms of it's treated as if it is designated for the

          7  purposes of regulation, and so that we've begun to

          8  have some beginnings of an experience in that

          9  regard, and we issued to date 15 permits at staff

         10  level, two certificates of appropriateness, which

         11  were approved by the full Landmarks Commission after

         12  a public hearing. Those are matters that are not

         13  covered by the rules and that require us to

         14  basically open it up to a broader review.

         15                 As always, we are committed to doing

         16  outreach to owners so people become familiar with

         17  our regulatory processes.

         18                 We have created a user-friendly

         19  document explaining the rules, which outlines what

         20  work requires a permit and what doesn't, and this

         21  will be finalized. We now have a draft that's been

         22  circulated and will be available in final form very

         23  shortly.

         24                 Furthermore, we have been working

         25  with Councilman Gioia and District Leader Deidra
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          2  Feerick to arrange for periodic office hours in the

          3  district. This is a methodology we're going to try.

          4  Hopefully this will -- Sarah and myself and others

          5  on the staff will be going to Sunnyside, talking in

          6  Eric's Office or in other venues, publicizing our

          7  accessibility and hopefully people will come in and

          8  say very concrete questions, if I want to change A,

          9  B or C, what do I do? What's the mechanism? How can

         10  we facilitate it? How can we expedite it? How can we

         11  make it as clear and as seemless and as

         12  user-friendly, owner-friendly as possible, and at

         13  the same time of course carry out the mandate of the

         14  Commission to protect the historic integrity of

         15  Sunnyside.

         16                 So, I'm very optimistic about that,

         17  and these office hours hopefully will achieve the

         18  result that we will all want to achieve. Our expert

         19  staff will be available, as I've said, in Sunnyside,

         20  to answer questions and help owners apply for

         21  permits.

         22                 I'm very excited about Sunnyside and

         23  have been from the beginning, and nothing has

         24  diminished that excitement. Sometimes the spirited

         25  debate has added a different kind of excitement, but
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          2  anyway I'm very proud to be here in support of this

          3  district and I urge you to support it as well, and

          4  happy, of course all of us here, to answer any

          5  questions that you may have.

          6                 Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Thank you.

          8                 Before I turn it over to Council

          9  Member Gioia, I wanted to note that we have been

         10  joined by a member of the Committee, Council Member

         11  Liu, and by the Chair of the Land Use Committee,

         12  Council Member Katz.

         13                 I wanted to ask the Counsel to allow

         14  Council Member Oddo and Liu to vote on the Parks'

         15  items.

         16                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Council Member

         17  Liu.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: I vote yes.

         19                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Council Member

         20  Oddo.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Yes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Thank you. I

         23  wanted to turn it over to Council Member Gioia.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Thank you very

         25  much, Chair Lappin, Chair Katz, Mr. Chairman. Thank
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          2  you all very much for being here. It's great to see

          3  so many of my neighbors here.

          4                 I have to say it feels a little

          5  funny, frankly, to look out into the audience and

          6  see all of you here, but it's very nice to see all

          7  of you. Thank you for taking the time off from work

          8  and family and I see a couple of kids playing hooky.

          9  We won't tell the Schools' Chancellor about that.

         10  But thank you very much for being here. As the

         11  Committee knows and as you know, I know the

         12  neighborhood quite well. I live on 49th Street. I

         13  grew up on 50th Street. As a young boy, and I guess

         14  maybe I should apologize for this, I was very happy

         15  to play hide-n-seek and tag in many of your back

         16  yards. I recognize you as having yelled at me, some

         17  of you, and I say this to say that I love the

         18  neighborhood, and it's a neighborhood where not only

         19  has my family been really, for quite a long time,

         20  for many decades, but it's a neighborhood that I'm

         21  raising my family in and I'm proud to do it, as many

         22  of you are.

         23                 And I think the Chairman touched on a

         24  little bit. It has been a little controversial and

         25  it has been tough at times, and, you know, it's no
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          2  surprise because when you're talking about

          3  somebody's house and something that people feel

          4  passionately about, the arguments can get heated,

          5  and I think that's okay, but the one thing I will

          6  ask at the outset of the hearing and as we move

          7  forward in this process, is I will ask of you what I

          8  ask of myself, and I have many friends who disagree

          9  with me, I think Sunnyside Gardens should be

         10  landmarked and preserved and some of my friends

         11  disagree with me, but it doesn't mean that I don't

         12  think they love the neighborhood, and they don't

         13  suspect that I don't love the neighborhood. And I

         14  think it's important as we move forward, that we

         15  move forward as a neighborhood, and as neighbors.

         16                 But it's really interesting, as I

         17  went around the neighborhood and spoke to folks,

         18  both on their front stoop and in their living rooms,

         19  as we called up people or mailed them or e-mailed

         20  them, one thing became very clear to me, and that is

         21  that most people agree, Sunnyside Gardens is worth

         22  preserving. It's a very special place, as those of

         23  my colleagues who were able to visit the

         24  neighborhood know. The question as it became

         25  clarified in my mind, and I think in a lot of people
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          2  who began the process and decided, is how do we best

          3  preserve this special place? How do we improve the

          4  neighborhood? How do we make it an even better

          5  neighborhood, and how do we do it with as minimal

          6  government intrusion as possible in a way that has

          7  clear rules, that gives a sense of continuity to

          8  homeowners and people who live in the neighborhood.

          9                 It is currently, as all of you know,

         10  part of a special district under City Planning.

         11  However, in the six years that I have been a member

         12  of the Land Use Committee, only one application, I

         13  believe it's only one application, I'm thinking

         14  maybe two, but one for sure that I can recall, has

         15  there been a special permit gone through

         16  successfully.

         17                 It is clear that the current system

         18  does not work. People just aren't using it. When the

         19  rules become so burdensome or complex and people

         20  stop using them, well, they don't become very good

         21  rules.

         22                 In addition, throughout the entire

         23  City, but especially in Western Queens, we are in a

         24  period of enormous, enormous growth. As the

         25  development boom continues, it is my hope that
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          2  Sunnyside Gardens will be preserved as the bucolic

          3  friendly family neighborhood that it is, and I think

          4  when you look at the pictures you see how special it

          5  is.

          6                 I believe that Sunnyside Gardens

          7  Preservation is not only important for the entire

          8  City, but also very important for our neighborhood,

          9  to preserve the cultural, historic and cultural

         10  heritage of the special place that it is. After

         11  careful deliberation I have come to that conclusion,

         12  that landmarking is the best way to preserve

         13  Sunnyside Gardens, both for current residents and

         14  for future generations.

         15                 I want to talk for a moment about the

         16  process that I went through. When landmarking

         17  formally launched the landmarking process, it's

         18  important to note that there was a formal process

         19  that began, but this has been talked about for many,

         20  many years, talked about seriously at times and kind

         21  of just talked about at times. But I mean, I can't

         22  even put a number on how long I have heard this

         23  thing talked about.

         24                 But I have to say, you know, I don't

         25  actually sit on this Committee, but I sit on Zoning
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          2  and I sit on Land Use, and really one of the worst

          3  things to ever hear when you sit on this Committee

          4  is someone who steps up and testifies right before

          5  you are about to rezone their neighborhood, and they

          6  say I had no idea this was going to happen. And

          7  people say, well, but it was in the local newspaper

          8  and it was in the Daily News and it was on TV and it

          9  was at the community board, and the person testifies

         10  and says, I had no idea. I don't read the Daily

         11  News, I don't read the New York Times, I didn't even

         12  know we had a local paper, and I don't have a

         13  television. But I work and I just heard this

         14  yesterday and I'm just gravely concerned about what

         15  this means for me.

         16                 It is, let me tell you, the worst

         17  thing to hear when you're in my position, because as

         18  good as a rezoning might be, I look at that and it

         19  gives me pause.

         20                 And so what I wanted to ensure, as

         21  the formal process began, was that the risk of that

         22  was minimized, and so I did a few things:

         23                 One, we went door-to-door. I

         24  personally went door-to-door and my staff went

         25  door-to-door, and I really liked doing that for a
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          2  few reasons: One, I think that when you're talking

          3  to somebody in their living room, there's a pretty

          4  good chance, and it's just me and them, that they're

          5  going to tell me exactly what's on their mind. That

          6  they're not telling their neighbors, they're not

          7  speaking publicly. They feel comfortable, it's their

          8  house, and I'm going to get the truth. And I did, I

          9  think, and my staff did as well.

         10                 Second, we phone banked. We just

         11  picked up the telephone and we had a survey and we

         12  called folks up and we asked them a series of

         13  questions. The questions weren't are you for or

         14  against, is it yea or nay? It was much more what do

         15  you like about the neighborhood? What do you want to

         16  see improved? What do you want to see stay the same?

         17  What do you want to see changed? to get really what

         18  was on people's minds.

         19                 And, third, we mailed out, regular

         20  mail, to homeowners across the neighborhood. We also

         21  sent a series of e-mails, and then we did what we

         22  call "stuff the neighborhood," you know, we put it

         23  under people's doors or in their doors. You don't

         24  put it in their mailbox, it's actually against the

         25  law to do that, but we did as best we could.
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          2                 Now, a few things I want to say is,

          3  one, when we actually mailed, I did not send a

          4  self-addressed stamped enveloped, and if that

          5  inconvenienced anybody, I apologize. I actually, I

          6  probably said publicly at some point I would send a

          7  self-addressed stamped envelope and we didn't. It

          8  was an error on my part. I hope it didn't

          9  inconvenience folks. My office is in the

         10  neighborhood, it would be easy enough to drop off,

         11  and since we also e-mailed and walked around, my

         12  staff would have been more than happy to pick it up

         13  at your house or take your opinion if you called up.

         14                 Second, I want to dispel the idea

         15  that it was a pol that we took. Let me tell you the

         16  way I think public policy should not be made, which

         17  is you put your finger up to the wind and you say,

         18  where are 50 percent plus one on this issue, because

         19  that's where I'm going to be. That's the wrong way

         20  to do public policy. And I told it to anybody who

         21  would listen, when they came into my office, I said

         22  I'm not going to do that. And I'll go out there and

         23  survey the neighborhood, to have a dialogue with the

         24  neighborhood and to hear people think and to make

         25  sure people's voices are heard, but I'm not going to
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          2  make a decision based on where 50 percent plus one

          3  is. And anyone who has followed my career and where

          4  I stand on issues, you know, sometimes folks, the

          5  majority agree with me, sometimes they don't, and

          6  that's kind of the way it is, but I'm honest about

          7  it, and I think that's what people want from their

          8  representatives. And I think that's important to

          9  note as we move forward in the hearing and as we go

         10  forward, that I don't think it's appropriate that

         11  you just weigh your mail and say which way is more

         12  and go that way on an issue.

         13                 In any case, this is what I did, this

         14  listening tour, to go around the neighborhood, to

         15  make sure that people's voices were heard, that

         16  folks had an opportunity to have a seat at the

         17  table. And I really want to thank everybody who took

         18  the time to come to my office or to speak to me or

         19  in the privacy of your home or to write a letter,

         20  even people who disagree with me on the ultimate

         21  outcome. I particularly want to thank Deidre

         22  Feerick, who has been an incredibly thoughtful voice

         23  in all of this, and that Deidre and I, we're

         24  friends, and we know each other a long time, but we

         25  disagree on the issue ultimately, but really when we
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          2  talk about it, I don't think that much because she

          3  loves Sunnyside and she loves the neighborhood, and

          4  she has been really a fantastic advocate for the

          5  community, and I think as the process moves forward,

          6  we'll continue to serve that role, making sure that

          7  everyone gets a fair shake in it.

          8                 In any case, it's impossible for 100

          9  percent of residents to agree completely, especially

         10  on an issue as complex and as personal as this.

         11                 Today you will hear from many people

         12  on both sides of the issue. Some will think that

         13  landmarking is the best thing ever, others who are

         14  vehemently opposed. But after listening to hundreds

         15  of people in the neighborhood, I have discovered a

         16  lot of common ground, and concluded that the vast

         17  majority agree on some key principles.

         18                 People love the scale of Sunnyside

         19  Gardens. They love the pitched grooves, they love

         20  the common open space and gardens, they love the

         21  sense of community. They want to protect the gardens

         22  from more curbcuts and illegal driveways, from

         23  destruction of the common gardens, from large and

         24  out-of-character changes to buildings.

         25                 I believe, and I believe strongly,
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          2  that landmarking is the best way to do this and do

          3  it well.

          4                 We will hear today, as well, and we

          5  have heard from the Landmarks Commission. He and his

          6  staff will explain more about the background of the

          7  neighborhood and how preservation under landmarking

          8  will work, and this is going to be a continuing

          9  dialogue.

         10                 As you heard the Chairman say,

         11  they're willing to take the step of coming out to

         12  the neighborhood, at the request of Deidre, who I

         13  mentioned earlier, and I think was a very good

         14  suggestion. Because, frankly, you know, it's hard to

         15  get down here for some folks and they shouldn't have

         16  to go to great lengths to find out what windows they

         17  can or cannot do and so I thank the Commission for

         18  that.

         19                 And I mean that when I say I hope

         20  there will be a continuing dialogue, because the

         21  idea here is that we will get to it in the Q and A I

         22  think a little bit, is that the government shouldn't

         23  put enormous burdens on homeowners who want to

         24  change their house. There needs to be a balance

         25  struck, and I think landmarking is the appropriate
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          2  way to strike that balance, to preserve the

          3  character and all the things we love about Sunnyside

          4  Gardens without being overly burdensome on people

          5  who want to make appropriate changes to their homes.

          6  And I thank Landmarks very much for being here and I

          7  look forward to hearing from all of my friends and

          8  neighbors.

          9                 Thank you very much.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Thank you. I

         11  wanted to note and thank Commissioner Tierney and

         12  his staff, I did a tour of the neighborhood and many

         13  of the members of the Committee joined me, Council

         14  Member Arroyo and Council Member Comrie, and a few

         15  others were there as well, Council Member Gioia was

         16  there, and it was very instructive and helpful to

         17  me, so I wanted to thank you for taking the time to

         18  do that. A designation this large, until you are

         19  there and you see and you're on the ground, it's

         20  very hard to picture and to really bring the

         21  designation report to life.

         22                 I also wanted to say I think this

         23  concept of having specific draft rules is a good

         24  one. It makes it sort of a much more user-friendly

         25  booklet for people who live in that neighborhood to
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          2  understand, even if the rules already exist, how

          3  they are going to apply to them. And Council Member

          4  Katz couldn't stay, she wanted me to, and I'm going

          5  to ask a couple of questions specific to these draft

          6  rules dealing with windows and porches, if I may.

          7                 Something that came up, and Council

          8  Member Katz was there when we toured the area as

          9  well, regarding the six pane windows, and you

         10  discuss here what would require a permit and what

         11  would not require a permit. I don't see any mention

         12  specifically of six panes versus --

         13                 CHAIRMAN TIERNEY: Let me have Sarah

         14  Carroll speak to that specifically. We did discuss

         15  it this morning, and we've been discussing it among

         16  many things and Sarah would be the Director --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: And I know these

         18  are a draft, which is why I want to bring these

         19  questions.

         20                 CHAIRMAN TIERNEY: Right. These are,

         21  strictly speaking, my counsel is here, not draft

         22  rules in terms of CAPA rules, and as you pointed

         23  out, Madam Chairman, they are a summary of existing

         24  rules --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: The rules already
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          2  exist.

          3                 CHAIRMAN TIERNEY: -- Trying to be

          4  packaged --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: -- They're being

          6  packaged in a user-friendly way.

          7                 CHAIRMAN TIERNEY: Correct.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: So that people

          9  who live in Sunnyside Gardens can say if I want to

         10  change my window, what do I need to do?

         11                 CHAIRMAN TIERNEY: Fine.

         12                 MS. CARROLL: What the rules say is on

         13  the primary facade, the new windows, in order to get

         14  a staff level approval, need to match the historic

         15  windows in terms of configuration, operation, finish

         16  materials and details, and the configuration refers

         17  to the original six over six configuration.

         18                 However, I want to point out that we

         19  don't require true divided lights, which would be

         20  six panes of glass on the top and six panes of glass

         21  on the bottom. The Commission approves

         22  double-glazed, thermally efficient windows which are

         23  single panes of glass, double-glazed, with an

         24  applied grid that's integral to the window frame.

         25                 So, it's a much less expensive and
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          2  better thermally efficient window type.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: But if you don't

          4  have six panes now, and you're at a point where you

          5  need to replace them, you're going to have to

          6  replace them with this six pane looking window.

          7                 MS. CARROLL: In order to get a permit

          8  -- now, every applicant has the right to come to

          9  the Commission and ask for anything that they want.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Right.

         11                 MS. CARROLL: And what has happened in

         12  the way that our rules were created is when the

         13  Commissioners consistently approve the same type of

         14  alteration in similar types of buildings, that

         15  change becomes codified and turned into rule which

         16  allows the staff the authority to write that permit.

         17  So, if the rules are not restrictive in the sense

         18  that they don't prohibit things, they're more

         19  facilitators, they allow the staff to write a

         20  permit, but anyone always has the right to come to

         21  the full commission and ask for a different either

         22  material or a configuration, and the Commission

         23  approves applications every single Tuesday, so just

         24  going to a public hearing doesn't mean that it won't

         25  be approved. And in this case, since the houses are
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          2  all the same, should the Commission approve an

          3  alternative window on one of the buildings, that

          4  could form the basis of an amended rule for this

          5  district.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: So, I think what

          7  would be helpful is to possibly include a little

          8  more detail specific to Sunnyside, because we don't

          9  want people to have to come down to see you on

         10  Tuesday. We want people to be able to make these

         11  alternations simply, easily with just a staff

         12  permit.

         13                 So, I think the most that we can

         14  facilitate that, the best we would be serving the

         15  people who live in Sunnyside Gardens.

         16                 And I guess I also want to ask, I

         17  assume this has sort of become a living, breathing

         18  document? As people come to you and you start to see

         19  patterns, you would then make additional rules, or

         20  you would --

         21                 CHAIRMAN TIERNEY: Quite possibly. One

         22  of the reasons we talked about not having rules at

         23  the same time we do the actual designation is to

         24  avail ourselves of the very experience that you're

         25  talking about, we've already had these 15 approvals
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          2  and two have gone to the full commission, so we

          3  evaluate how are things beginning to look in this

          4  district, what do people want, is there a certain

          5  consensus around a certain set of improvements, and

          6  then through that experience, and in this case I

          7  guarantee you that it will be done as expeditiously

          8  as possible. But to the extent we begin to develop

          9  consensus on approaches, we would definitely

         10  consider making that consensus on those elements

         11  become part of the rules to facilitate.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: And that would be

         13  added to this document in time?

         14                 CHAIRMAN TIERNEY: Yes.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Because I think

         16  it's great that you're looking at areas outside of

         17  Manhattan, but then we have to realize that people

         18  who don't live in Manhattan, it's not as convenient

         19  for them to come --

         20                 CHAIRMAN TIERNEY: Sure. Absolutely.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: -- To the

         22  Commission in person. So, we have to accommodate

         23  that.

         24                 CHAIRMAN TIERNEY: Yes.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: And I also want
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          2  to say I think the concept of providing office hours

          3  in the community, I'll be curious to hear if this is

          4  successful, if people take advantage of it, because

          5  I think that's a great idea, making government more

          6  accessible.

          7                 CHAIRMAN TIERNEY: Sure.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: The Chair, Chair

          9  Katz, also raised the issue of porches, and this is

         10  something maybe you want to discuss with her as

         11  these drafts are finalized.

         12                 CHAIRMAN TIERNEY: I will. Fine.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: If people don't

         14  have porches, want to add them, do have porches want

         15  to take them away. We discussed on the tour how many

         16  people have enclosed their porches. I think if the

         17  rules could reflect a little more detail regarding

         18  porches, that was the Chair's request.

         19                 CHAIRMAN TIERNEY: Okay.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: With that, you

         21  know, the other comment I just wanted to make, and

         22  it reminds me of City and suburban in my district,

         23  but the concept of affordable housing for the

         24  working poor, that was developed on purpose with the

         25  concept of a limited profit, a profit but a limited
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          2  profit, is one that I do think is important, and we

          3  still have an affordable housing crisis in the City

          4  100 years later, which I think is worth noting.

          5                 Any of my colleagues have questions

          6  for the commissioners?

          7                 Council Member Gioia?

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Thank you,

          9  Chair. And thank you, Councilman Comrie for your

         10  indulgence. You see, I'm not on the Committee so

         11  they're all being very nice to me letting me speak

         12  and ask questions.

         13                 A couple of questions, and just to

         14  underscore Council Member Lappin's point, I mean I

         15  think that's exactly right, as we do go out and

         16  landmark areas outside of Manhattan.

         17                 I will tell you a funny story. About

         18  a week ago, I take the subway back and forth most

         19  days, and a woman from a senior center in Woodside

         20  was getting off the subway and she looked at me and

         21  she was quite angry, and I said what's wrong? And

         22  she said I'm down here because of you. And I said

         23  why. And she said, well, you gave our senior center

         24  a grant. I said you should be happy about that. She

         25  goes, I'm not happy I have to come down to get it.
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          2  She said it would be great if you'd have it in the

          3  neighborhood. Why do I have to go all the way down

          4  to City Hall to get the money? And, so, I think it's

          5  an important point that people want to change their

          6  houses, and it might be difficult for some folks to

          7  get down here.

          8                 In terms of the decks, if you

          9  wouldn't mind talking for a moment about that? To

         10  what extent will decks be permitted and will there

         11  be staff permitted?

         12                 CHAIRMAN TIERNEY: Sarah.

         13                 MS. CARROLL: The decks may be

         14  permitted and approved at the staff level, if they

         15  meet a certain set of criteria. And the first thing

         16  is it conform to the Department of Buildings Code,

         17  because we don't want to issue something that's

         18  illegal, in terms of building code. And, so, that

         19  actually prescribes a certain maximum size.

         20                 And then in addition to that we would

         21  approve them if they were not visible, if they did

         22  not cover the entire green space and left some of

         23  the private green space. And if they were low enough

         24  that they didn't cause any visual obstructions in

         25  the view of the green space.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: To what extent

          3  will Landmarks be able to regulate the open space in

          4  the back of folks' homes?

          5                 MS. CARROLL: The Landmarks Commission

          6  regulates entire properties, so we, in every

          7  district, regulate the fronts and the backs.

          8  Historically the Commission has been more flexible

          9  on non-visible rear facades, however, because the

         10  siting is so important in this district, we already

         11  said that we would bring rear yard additions to a

         12  public hearing, and the staff for now would not

         13  approve those.

         14                 Otherwise we have jurisdiction over

         15  the entire property and we deemed the common gardens

         16  and the backspace, back yard spaces to be

         17  significant, and we would not allow the removal of

         18  any historical paths breaking up the common gardens

         19  that are already intact and any other additions in

         20  the backyards that would detract from the special

         21  character of that space.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Thank you. I

         23  mean, I ask that because I think the common

         24  greenspaces is very important to folks, and I think

         25  there was a concern whether or not you would have
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          2  the ability to regulate that.

          3                 CHAIRMAN TIERNEY: We do and we will.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Thank you. And

          5  I ask about decks, because it seems to me, from what

          6  I'm hearing, is in that context, in other words, if

          7  you follow those rules and do all the things you

          8  say, it will actually be a lot less bureaucratic to

          9  get a deck under landmarks than it has been

         10  previously, hence the reason that no one ever comes

         11  here and does a ULURP to get a deck.

         12                 CHAIRMAN TIERNEY: We believe that. We

         13  agree with that.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Following up on

         15  Chair Lappin's question. So, if I understand this

         16  correctly, what you're saying is that, you know, you

         17  don't want to come out with a bunch of rules right

         18  now sitting at the table, thinking about what is

         19  best for this neighborhood, moving ten years

         20  forward. You actually want to have a process where

         21  the neighborhood is coming up with changes.

         22                 CHAIRMAN TIERNEY: That's correct. And

         23  also, as a matter of law and procedure, any rules or

         24  procedures that we would adopt under CAPA

         25  administrative procedure would take place after a
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          2  full public hearing and taking all that input. So,

          3  that's a sort of institutional governmental public

          4  process for the adoption of the rules, but also we

          5  are very mindful of what the public is doing and

          6  saying, the public in this case being the owners and

          7  residents of Sunnyside, as they go through the

          8  regulatory process.

          9                 So, on all those levels, we would be

         10  doing a lot of listening and a lot of weighing and

         11  evaluating before we ventured into a rule-making

         12  activity.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Thank you. And

         14  I think that's important, because I think the

         15  neighborhood obviously knows the neighborhood quite

         16  well.

         17                 CHAIRMAN TIERNEY: Yes.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: A few other

         19  quick points.

         20                 Because I do think it's important

         21  that the rules give a sense of what the rules are,

         22  you know, so folks can know what they can do to

         23  their house and what they can't do. And I'm just

         24  reading page five and I will just point it out to

         25  you. Are you familiar with page five? It concerns me
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          2  a little because it just says"... for primary

          3  facades when the sash has deteriorated beyond

          4  repair, new sash shall match the" -- it's talking

          5  about the windows, and what can be approved in the

          6  staff level. Maybe I'm just reading it wrong, but it

          7  seems that you can't actually. Explain it to me, if

          8  you wouldn't mind?

          9                 CHAIRMAN TIERNEY: Yes.

         10                 MS. CARROLL: In this case it would

         11  mean if the historics asked for sach, or the

         12  original sash was deteriorated, and if they really

         13  are 80-year-old windows, they're sort of coming to

         14  the end of their lifespan. And, so, most of those

         15  would be deteriorated enough to warrant their

         16  replacement, and, of course, where there are modern

         17  windows, we would have no problem approving the

         18  replacement.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Okay. Because

         20  when I read "sash," I wasn't thinking six over six,

         21  but you mean kind of the grid is the sash?

         22                 MS. CARROLL: The sash is the operable

         23  part of the windows. So, you have a perimeter frame,

         24  which is fixed, and then the sash are the operable

         25  pieces, the part that moves up and the part that
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          2  moves down. And then the configuration is the grid.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Gotch-ya.

          4                 For folks like me pictures would be a

          5  lot better, I suppose is the answer. So I would ask

          6  that more pictures - I'm half facetious, but I think

          7  pictures are helpful in describing these terms of

          8  art.

          9                 My final question is, because I heard

         10  this from a lot of folks, you guys I think have done

         11  a nice job in speaking to me and others I think

         12  assuaging this fear, but someone says to you, you

         13  know, this is too expensive, I don't think I can put

         14  on a full slate roof, and I certainly don't want to

         15  have a hole in my roof and I don't want to have a

         16  violation, so what do I do?

         17                 MS. CARROLL: Right. To get a staff

         18  permit now you would have to match the slate

         19  material, if you have a slate roof on your pitched

         20  roof. And you could always go to the Commissioners

         21  and say I can't afford this right now, is there an

         22  alternative material that you would approve? And the

         23  Commission has at Commission level approved

         24  alternative materials, such as a synthetic slate,

         25  which is a rubberized kind of material.
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          2                 And in addition, we've found another

          3  material called "true slate," which is actually real

          4  slate but it's a new way to install it, which

          5  reduces the labor costs significantly. And in any

          6  roof replacement the big part of the cost is

          7  actually the labor. So, this new system allows you

          8  to hook the slates and the smaller pieces of slate

          9  onto hooks, then the pieces overlap but you don't

         10  have to nail one slate single into another slate

         11  shingle, which is much more labor intensive. So,

         12  this new slate patented installation method actually

         13  reduces the cost of the roof to, in many cases,

         14  below the cost of a synthetic alternative material.

         15                 CHAIRMAN TIERNEY: So, we're very

         16  mindful of all of those costs, and all those issues

         17  and are trying to be, when these conversations take

         18  place, when we have the meetings with owners and try

         19  to talk it through, that's very high in my own list

         20  of priorities and I know Sarah and her Department

         21  are also extremely mindful of that, consistent with

         22  the historic responsibilities of keeping the

         23  district intact, but we're constantly open to new

         24  technologies, I guess the best way to put it, yes.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: I think that's
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          2  an important point, especially as we begin -- I

          3  don't think you have to have a mansion in order for

          4  it to be landmarked or for it to be historic. I

          5  think that's an important point as we move forward

          6  as a City. But for that to be the case, though, I

          7  think that there needs to be recognition that folks

          8  who live in regular houses are regular folks who

          9  don't have a tremendous amount of money. And I trust

         10  that you're there and I appreciate --

         11                 CHAIRMAN TIERNEY: We are.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Yes. Thank you

         13  very much.

         14                 I think that's it for now. Thank you,

         15  Madam Chair.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON TIERNEY: Thank you.

         17                 Council Member Comrie.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Thank you.

         19  Good afternoon, Commissioner, and staff.

         20                 When you're talking about the slate

         21  roof, those two alternatives that you came up with,

         22  are they still in the same cost range as an original

         23  slate roof, or are they substantially less

         24  expensive?

         25                 MS. CARROLL: They would be less
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          2  expensive than installing the slate roof in the

          3  traditional manner.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Is it equal to

          5  like a regular roofing material?

          6                 MS. CARROLL: An asphalt. Those, in

          7  both cases, would still be more expensive than an

          8  asphalt roof.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay. And how

         10  much time would you give a person that doesn't have

         11  the financial means to do our installation but yet

         12  they have a leaking in their roof; what would that

         13  process be like?

         14                 Suppose I have a senior citizen,

         15  often which I have, that needs an emergency repair,

         16  you know, I send them to a non-profit in my group in

         17  my district, and I know that they, in Sunnyside

         18  Gardens they -- I forget the name of the group that

         19  they go to to get a lower interest loan, because

         20  they're a senior and they're trying to do a roof

         21  repair; what kind of time factor? And do you also do

         22  low-interest loans for people who are looking to get

         23  that kind of help?

         24                 MS. CARROLL: If there is an emergency

         25  repair, we obviously want the building to be
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          2  watertight. So, we would work with the owners

          3  immediately. We have a process when you can send in

          4  an application and we get it assigned to somebody in

          5  one day, and we'll work with them to make the

          6  building weather tight while we figure out the best

          7  solution to the actual outerlayer of the roof

          8  material. And we have a very small grant program,

          9  but there is a non-profit organization, the

         10  Landmarks Conservancy, which is sort of a sister

         11  organization for us, and they provide low-interest

         12  loans, and they are much better rates than a bank

         13  would be. And in addition, when you receive a loan

         14  from them you also get a project manager essentially

         15  for free who will then oversee the project and make

         16  sure that the contractor is doing a good job.

         17                 So, their loans I think are one or

         18  two percent.

         19                 CHAIRMAN TIERNEY: And we would also

         20  stretch out any activity, based on affordability,

         21  stretch out the compliance period. We're most

         22  interested, as Sarah said, in getting it fixed

         23  immediately, whatever that might entail, and we

         24  would do it fast.

         25                 And then whatever longer term
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          2  improvements were necessitated or required by the

          3  law or the regulations, we'd be extremely lenient,

          4  if you will, or understanding of that process, and

          5  stretch it out to the extent needed in order

          6  ultimately to comply but not to cause any

          7  precipitous undue financial hardship.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay. Now,

          9  what about people that have received fines already

         10  because they were not understanding or they spoke a

         11  second language and they did not know that they were

         12  involved in a process that was against the status of

         13  the community?

         14                 CHAIRMAN TIERNEY: Right. We have not

         15  issued any fines yet at all --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay.

         17                 CHAIRMAN TIERNEY: I mean in this.

         18                 MS. CARROLL: There may be a Buildings

         19  Department violation.

         20                 CHAIRMAN TIERNEY: There may be a

         21  Buildings Department violation, but hopefully that

         22  can be worked out, but it is not coming from the

         23  Landmarks Commission.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: It's not

         25  coming from Landmarks, okay.
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          2                 MS. CARROLL: We've issued a warning

          3  letter, but we're working --

          4                 CHAIRMAN TIERNEY: One warning letter

          5  and we're working with the owner to resolve that.

          6  But no violations, no fines.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay.

          8                 And you will work with people to do

          9  the emergency repairs --

         10                 CHAIRMAN TIERNEY: Yes, sir. Always.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: To have shown

         12  that they cannot do the permanent repair in a timely

         13  manner?

         14                 CHAIRMAN TIERNEY: I am gold that

         15  lightning had struck a roof in Sunnyside, and that

         16  within one day we issued a permit and worked with

         17  the owner to effectuate those repairs.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay. And on a

         19  6/6 window, you want it to be an actual 6/6 sash

         20  window with separate panes?

         21                 CHAIRMAN TIERNEY: No.

         22                 MS. CARROLL: No.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Or can you go

         24  to Home Depot and buy those kits to convert what --

         25  I forget the technical term. Because I'm in the

                                                            79

          1  LANDMARKS, PUBLIC SITING AND MARITIME USES

          2  process of looking at windows, and you know, with

          3  the Anderson windows you can buy a kit that goes

          4  into the double-insulated glass window that's a 6/6

          5  but it's just the framing; is that acceptable to the

          6  Commission?

          7                 MS. CARROLL: I'm not familiar with

          8  Anderson's kit, although we do approve Anderson

          9  windows and Marvin windows, and as I said, it's a

         10  single sheet of glass, full glazed, and we approve

         11  an applied grid, which would be on the outside, not

         12  between the two pieces of glass.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: So a 6/6 could

         14  be an applied grid to the outside.

         15                 So, you could extensively buy your

         16  own wood and apply it to the outside and meet the

         17  standard as long as you did it within --

         18                 MS. CARROLL: Right.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: And

         20  historically significant. You just couldn't put up

         21  pieces of 2 by 4 but it would have to be --

         22                 MS. CARROLL: Right. The details would

         23  have to be right. And I think in order to get the

         24  actual proper joints you'd want to get a window

         25  that's manufactured with that grid and it's integral
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          2  to the frame.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Right. Well, a

          4  lot of the -- I just used Anderson just because that

          5  was the first thing that came to mind, but as

          6  looking at windows, most of the window companies now

          7  do sell those grids --

          8                 MS. CARROLL: Yes.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: -- Separately.

         10  So, the grid would have to be outside but not inside

         11  the window?

         12                 MS. CARROLL: It would have to be on

         13  the outside. Sometimes they make them on the outside

         14  and they put them on the inside.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Right. Because

         16  some manufacturers actually put them in between the

         17  windows now too.

         18                 MS. CARROLL: Yes, we wouldn't approve

         19  it at staff level in between the glazing, because

         20  from the outside you wouldn't have the depth or

         21  articulation.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay, but you

         23  would improve anything that's on the outside, okay.

         24                 So, actually a person could buy a

         25  standard insulated window, then put the grid on the
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          2  outside and that would meet your standard?

          3                 MS. CARROLL: It would depend on the

          4  details. We wouldn't want to have something sort of

          5  tacked on that looked like it was tacked on.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Right.

          7                 MS. CARROLL: And there are many

          8  windows that just, they make stock kinds of windows

          9  that have a grid and that's integral to the frame

         10  and that's really the better way to go.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: I'm sorry, Mr.

         12  Tierney.

         13                 CHAIRMAN TIERNEY: And we would have

         14  exactly this kind of discussion hopefully with

         15  people who were contemplating that, we would have

         16  this discussion, and then we'd say okay then agree

         17  on an approach and then a permit would be issued. So

         18  it's a question of talking, having a conversation,

         19  being able to be sure in advance that everything is

         20  going in the right direction.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: And as you

         22  said earlier, these rules are still in flux with the

         23  feedback from the community?

         24                 CHAIRMAN TIERNEY: Yes.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: And I'm sorry,
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          2  I had to run downstairs. You said you're going to

          3  make an opportunity to actually have a Landmarks

          4  Office temporarily in the district?

          5                 CHAIRMAN TIERNEY: Not an office in

          6  the district. With our 64 people that we have in the

          7  agency, it would be very difficult, but we're going

          8  to have office --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Diane lives in

         10  Queens.

         11                 CHAIRMAN TIERNEY: Sarah does too.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Oh, okay.

         13                 CHAIRMAN TIERNEY: I'm not sure Diane

         14  lives in Queens yet. But we're not having an office

         15  in Queens, but we may use Eric's office or Deidre,

         16  and we will use it from time to time and have

         17  quote/unquote office hours.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay. As a

         19  Queens person, and especially if they're talking

         20  about congestion pricing, I would much prefer for

         21  homeowners to walk to an office as opposed to

         22  getting on a crowded F Line or G Line or I'm not

         23  sure which line runs through, 7 Line, which is

         24  really overcrowded to have to come into the City.

         25                 So, I think that's a great
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          2  opportunity and that it comes to fruition.

          3                 I just had one other question that

          4  came to me.

          5                 The air conditioning. As you know, I

          6  had an opportunity to walk through there --

          7                 CHAIRMAN TIERNEY: Yes.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: And you had in

          9  the wall air conditioning and exterior air

         10  conditioning and through the window air

         11  conditioning. If a person wants to put in, or has

         12  the ability to do an entire house, the HVAC

         13  equipment, how would that be permitted?

         14                 CHAIRMAN TIERNEY: It would be

         15  permitted. The kinds of factors, and then I'll turn

         16  it over for the details to Sarah, but the kinds of

         17  factors we consider is to try to be sure that any

         18  such system is minimally visible, that wherever it

         19  may be placed, that it is in no way distracting from

         20  the essential quality of the house.

         21                 And so, therefore, that would be

         22  totally permissible and encouraged, provided we had

         23  a discussion about it and were able to talk through

         24  that aspect of it.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: But the
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          2  through the window and through the wall units could

          3  be upgraded if they come of age, correct?

          4                 MS. CARROLL: And I just want to point

          5  out that we do not write permits for units that you

          6  put in your window.

          7                 So, if you're opening your window and

          8  sticking your unit in the window, you do not need a

          9  permit from the Landmark Commission. It's only when

         10  you make a permanent alteration to the building and

         11  if there is to be a central air system where there

         12  is a unit on the outside, we would probably prefer

         13  to have that in the back, rather than in the front

         14  and through the wall units we'd also prefer to have

         15  in the back.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Right. But if

         17  you already have a through the window or through the

         18  wall unit, and you need to upgrade it for a more

         19  energy efficient unit, you would need a permit for

         20  that.

         21                 MS. CARROLL: The cut in the masonry

         22  would be grandfathered.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: I'm sorry, I'm

         24  done. Thank you very much. I didn't realize there

         25  were so many people testifying. Sorry, Madam Chair.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Thank you. Thank

          3  you, Mr. Comrie.

          4                 Thank you very much.

          5                 CHAIRMAN TIERNEY: Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: There are no more

          7  questions.

          8                 CHAIRMAN TIERNEY: Thank you very

          9  much.

         10                 Thank you, all members.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: So, we do have

         12  over 40 people signed up to testify, so let me kind

         13  of quickly go over the rules.

         14                 I'm going to call up panels, altering

         15  in favor and opposition. Alternating, I should say,

         16  between in favor and in opposition, although there

         17  are more signed up in favor. And we're going to have

         18  two minutes on the clock. We're going to ask you to

         19  try and keep your remarks to two minutes, because we

         20  do have so many people who are signed up to testify

         21  and we want to hear from all of you, and in order to

         22  do that, we have to ask each of you to be respectful

         23  and to try and keep your remarks to two minutes, and

         24  I will be even-handed with all of you in asking you

         25  to respect the time limit.
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          2                 The first panel will be in favor.

          3  James Van Bramer. We're going to ask you to come up

          4  in groups of three or four. If the Sergeant can add

          5  another Chair, please, that will save some time. And

          6  as you come up, introduce yourself for the record

          7  and then begin.

          8                 So, the first panel is James Van

          9  Bramer, Jody McClintock, Robyn Love and Ethel

         10  Plimack.

         11                 The following panel is a panel in

         12  opposition. Warren Lehrer, Ira Greenberg, Judith

         13  Sloan and Miriam Allen. You can get ready to come up

         14  next.

         15                 If you have written statements, you

         16  can hand them to the Sergeant-At-Arms and he will

         17  distribute it to us.

         18                 If you are not going to stay or you

         19  decide at a point you have to leave but want to hand

         20  something in for the record, you can also give it to

         21  the Sergeant-At-Arms and it will become part of the

         22  official record.

         23                 And we can begin. Mr. Van Bramer

         24  start, and then we can go down. And I will ask my

         25  colleagues to hold questions until the end of each
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          2  panel.

          3                 MR. VAN BRAMER: Can you hear me? Here

          4  we go. Good morning. First of all, can we let Ethel

          5  go first, or do I have to go first?

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Do not.

          7                 MR. VAN BRAMER: I would much rather

          8  Ethel go first.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: We can start at

         10  that end and work our way back.

         11                 MR. VAN BRAMER: Let's do that.

         12                 MS. PLIMACK: Okay. I'm Ethel Plimack.

         13  I'm a resident of Sunnyside since 1941. I'm 97, and

         14  I'm so happy to be in Sunnyside Gardens because I

         15  relish the garden area, and hope to maintain it for

         16  the lifetime. My families have enjoyed it, my

         17  children have grown up in Sunnyside, and so I want

         18  to maintain the original site. I'm in the same house

         19  that I had at that point. We've enjoyed Sunnyside

         20  Gardens. I've been in 46th Street so many years and

         21  my neighbors are all old-timers. Not many of us are

         22  here, but we want to maintain our gardens so that we

         23  can look out and enjoy the greenspace. Thank you.

         24                 MS. McCLINTOCK: My name is Jodie Lynn

         25  McClintock. I am an actress and a Sunnyside Gardens
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          2  resident for 11 years and a homeowner for nine. I

          3  came to New York City 26 years ago to pursue my

          4  artistic destiny and the challenge has always been

          5  to do so without sacrificing a decent standard of

          6  living.

          7                 Despite having appeared on Broadway

          8  in London's West End, and this past year in an Oscar

          9  nominated film, I simply cannot afford to live in

         10  Manhattan.

         11                 Eleven years ago my husband and I

         12  suddenly encountered Sunnyside Gardens and we were

         13  instantly transported and soon moved into an

         14  apartment in the neighborhood, but I have a dream,

         15  and that dream was to become a home owner, my first

         16  home.

         17                 So, like any accomplished actor, I

         18  set out to work to discover the knowledge and the

         19  background and the wherewithal that I needed to

         20  accomplish that dream, and I learned that the

         21  gardens had become known as the nursery of Greenwich

         22  Village. As many of my fellow artists are inspired

         23  by the unique nature of the area, Lewis Mumford put

         24  it best: "So although our means were modest, we

         25  contrive to live in an environment where space,
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          2  sunlight, order, color, these essential ingredients

          3  for either life or art were constantly present,

          4  silently molding all of us.

          5                 My life's art is to inhabit and give

          6  voice to others' word, so I felt appropriate when I

          7  testified in front of the Landmarks Preservation

          8  Commission to quote First Lady Eleanor Roosevelt who

          9  was the President and Founding Director of the City

         10  Housing Corporation, which created Sunnyside

         11  Gardens. I have to take a moment to tell you,

         12  though, I was shocked and surprised that many

         13  opponents to landmarking when I testified applauded

         14  my quote/unquote performance, and then dismissed the

         15  spirit of my chosen means of expression as

         16  disingenuous and manipulative. I used her words to

         17  express my thoughts, and therefore, knowing that we

         18  have a time limit, I simply wanted to end by saying

         19  I spoke from my heart and she speaks for me, and I

         20  will give you a quick quote from Eleanor.

         21                 "Perhaps the most alarming tendency

         22  of the new social order is the rapid disappearance

         23  of real home life from the cities. We have game laws

         24  to protect birds and animals against extinction. Is

         25  there no way in which we can prevent or retard the
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          2  gradual extinction of the American Home? At the

          3  present rate, it will not be long before this

          4  country can properly be called sardinia, for we

          5  shall be a nation of sardines. But a few of us here

          6  in New York believe that we have found a plan that

          7  will help achieve better housing. The object is not

          8  to find the bottom cost at which any roof could be

          9  put over a family's head, but the least cost at

         10  which a satisfactory human environment could be

         11  created.

         12                 In Sunnyside, the emphasis is laid

         13  upon fostering a sense of home ownership.  Judged by

         14  anything previously done in New York, Sunnyside has

         15  justified itself. It has provided good housing and

         16  community possibilities of a sort not available

         17  anywhere else in the City at any price..."

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: I'm sorry, I have

         19  to ask you to wrap up. Thank you.

         20                 MS. McCLINTOCK: I want to say I just

         21  believe in Eleanor's words, and I hope you continue

         22  with her intent. Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Thank you.

         24                 MS. LOVE: Good afternoon. My name is

         25  Robyn Love and I've been a resident of Sunnyside
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          2  Gardens for 15 years, and I want to thank you for

          3  this opportunity to express my support for

          4  designating our neighborhood as a historic district.

          5                 I stand with the majority of my

          6  neighbors, as well as many others, when I state my

          7  belief that this designation is the best available

          8  means to honor and preserve what is so unique and

          9  important about our community.

         10                 Living in Sunnyside Gardens is not a

         11  passive experience. It was not created for people

         12  who come to New York City to be an anonymous face in

         13  the crowd, nor for the type of people who have no

         14  desire to know their neighbors. Sunnyside Gardens

         15  insists you meet your neighbors, with its shared

         16  courtyards, the community park, the layout of the

         17  blocks of houses, Sunnyside Gardens was created to

         18  provoke a lively, social dynamic and it has

         19  succeeded beautifully.

         20                 However, since the creation in the

         21  late 1920s of little and big changes have been made

         22  to the neighborhood - gardens have been paved over

         23  for driveways, fences have been erected that close

         24  off pathways and divide up courtyards and additions

         25  have been put on some houses that alter the look of
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          2  an entire block. While some change is inevitable and

          3  even welcome as the community matures, many of the

          4  changes made to Sunnyside Gardens have resulted in a

          5  chipping away at that cornerstone of our community.

          6  The egalitarian yet elegant way of the neighborhood

          7  architecture and layout fosters neighborliness. It's

          8  the simple yet wonderful way that Sunnyside Gardens

          9  has become a New York City treasure.

         10                 I urge you to vote in support of

         11  historic designation so that this treasure will

         12  continue to offer its residents a fascinating

         13  beautiful neighborly place to live long into the

         14  future.

         15                 MR. VAN BRAMER: Good morning, my name

         16  is -- or good afternoon. My name is Jimmy Van

         17  Bramer. And first, let me just say, Ethel, you

         18  inspire us all. You are just a treasure. And to sit

         19  here with these other three neighbors really

         20  demonstrates how wonderful our neighborhood is and

         21  why we love to live here so much.

         22                 My partner, Dan Hendrick, who some

         23  folks here know, couldn't be here. He's working. So

         24  I think I'm testifying on behalf of both of us. We

         25  both support landmarks.
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          2                 Sunnyside Gardens is without doubt a

          3  rare and special neighborhood with a most

          4  distinctive sense of place. Few who enter it fail to

          5  appreciate and remark upon its abundant greenery and

          6  it's charming red brick homes.

          7                 Indeed, it is the very plan and

          8  footprint of the gardens, dreamed up by legends like

          9  Mumford Wright, Stein and others, that has resulted

         10  in this precious oasis that we are fortunate to call

         11  home. And while the homes and gardens at Sunnyside

         12  are noted for their architect, their plan and

         13  landscaping, it's important to note that the Phipps

         14  apartments are equally stunning, and are included in

         15  this historic district, and we're very happy about

         16  that.

         17                 Let's face it, places like Sunnyside

         18  Gardens are rare to find anywhere in New York City,

         19  and when you've got something so special, you've got

         20  to do everything you can to preserve and protect it

         21  for future generations.

         22                 That's why I am glad that so many of

         23  my neighbors began a grassroots campaign to have our

         24  neighborhood landmarked, and that the overwhelming

         25  majority of my neighbors support this effort. I
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          2  think the evidence in the room here today backs that

          3  up. And we're very thrilled that LPC has voted

          4  unanimously to support designation for Sunnyside

          5  Gardens. Never was a district, in my humble opinion,

          6  more worthy and LDC deserves credit for supporting

          7  us.

          8                 I would also like to commend

          9  Councilman Gioia for supporting us in this effort

         10  and for speaking out in favor of it, and also, of

         11  course, I would be remiss if I didn't say hello to

         12  my good friend Leroy Comrie, also from Queens, a

         13  good supporter.

         14                 So, with that I'll just say that

         15  we're proud to join with our neighbors in support of

         16  Sunnyside Gardens landmark designation. We urge you

         17  to vote in favor. Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Thank you. And I

         19  understand that the Speaker was in the neighborhood

         20  over the weekend and you showed her.

         21                 MR. VAN BRAMER: It was good to have

         22  her.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Yes.

         24                 Okay, the next panel in opposition.

         25  Warren Lehrer, Ira Greenberg, Judith Sloan and
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          2  Miriam Allen.

          3                 To be followed by, so you can

          4  prepare, Amanda Lehman, Keenan Hughes, Renee

          5  Williams and Julie Story. That's the next group up

          6  after this.

          7                 Did we lose the other two?

          8                 MR. GREENBERG: Yes, we did.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: So, which two?

         10                 MR. GREENBERG: We would like to

         11  request, because they're both working people and

         12  they had to go back to work, they were here, so we

         13  would ask for the additional --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: I can't  do that.

         15                 MR. GREENBERG: Well, I have Judy's

         16  comments, but they're handwritten.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: If you have

         18  testimony that you can submit for the record, we

         19  will reflect that those were here.

         20                 MR. GREENBERG: Would it be okay if

         21  the record was held open, because hers are

         22  handwritten?

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: That's okay. If

         24  she'd like to send it in.

         25                 MR. GREENBERG: I mean, if I have
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          2  time, part of my time, I'll add them. Okay.

          3                 Do you want to go first?

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Council Member

          5  Comrie raised a good point. If anybody would like to

          6  submit written testimony, we have until the 17th to

          7  do that, because I'm going to recess the meeting

          8  until then. So, anybody can submit anything into the

          9  record between now and then in writing.

         10                 MR. GREENBERG: Okay, thank you.

         11                 Good afternoon. My name is Ira

         12  Greenberg. I'm a resident and homeowner in Sunnyside

         13  Gardens, and I'm also Counsel to Preserve Sunnyside

         14  Gardens, a not-for-profit group a number of us

         15  started. It's a coalition of hundreds of homeowners

         16  who are actually opposed to historic designation.

         17                 I gave you some of our materials,

         18  including my testimony at Landmarks Preservation

         19  Commission, as well as a recent letter to the

         20  Commissioner. We have corresponded back and forth

         21  once since before designation and after.

         22                 This effort to landmark Sunnyside

         23  Gardens is ill-conceived, and I think some history

         24  would be helpful.

         25                 Sunnyside Gardens, as many of you
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          2  heard, was part of a PC district that was enacted in

          3  1974. There were efforts in the community to amend

          4  the PC district, because the regulation wasn't

          5  perfect, and it was home grown to amend the PC

          6  district so that there would be changes to make it

          7  more workable for people to actually make some small

          8  changes to the houses, because the PC district was

          9  very strict in that. You could not make any changes.

         10                 That effort was short circuited when

         11  there was an effort by a small number of people to

         12  landmark. So, that was stopped and we went ahead

         13  with the landmarking.

         14                 One of the problems of landmarking

         15  is, it doesn't really look at the open space. They

         16  say it does, and maybe they do have authority, but

         17  as they said, it would regulate fences and not

         18  landscaping. So, someone could put a row of trees

         19  out, if they wanted to, into the open space.

         20                 Not only that, but a letter received

         21  by every homeowner clearly stated by the Commission

         22  that if you planned to do any work on the building,

         23  we suggest you call early in your planning. It

         24  doesn't say anything about the open space. So, we

         25  have a very big concern, as well as the issue the
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          2  Councilman has raised about people changing, has

          3  about the open space, and whether it will be

          4  protected. Because I feel that many homeowners have

          5  not been told of that issue. So, that would be

          6  another concern.

          7                 Also, the LPC has a history with us

          8  of not working with the community, and it's been

          9  along history that I'm very happy to see with the

         10  help of Deidra Feerick and our Councilman, that they

         11  will be out in the community, that's very helpful.

         12  But we wrote a letter in May, did not get a response

         13  until only a few weeks ago.

         14                 The response was kind of like, well,

         15  you're wrong, you're wrong, you're wrong, as opposed

         16  to we want to work with you. We've always said we

         17  would like a set of rules that are different than

         18  the Landmarks Preservation's rules, which are very

         19  strict on these windows and doors issues, whereas

         20  everybody here, you will hear them. I know what

         21  people are going to say, I've heard them, they're my

         22  neighbors. We know what's important about Sunnyside

         23  Gardens, it's the open spaces, and it's the size of

         24  the houses. And there should be very strict rules as

         25  the PC district had on whether you can do any

                                                            99

          1  LANDMARKS, PUBLIC SITING AND MARITIME USES

          2  extensions or enlargements. Also, keeping the open

          3  spaces open.

          4                 But I don't think that saying that my

          5  slate roof has to be replaced with slate shingles.

          6  Because anything for that, or anything for the goals

          7  of Clarence Stein and Henry Wright, which was social

          8  interaction. So, I don't know why my doors and my

          9  windows have to be a certain type and slate has to

         10  be on my roof, when really what we're talking about

         11  here is a social structure, based -- the

         12  architecture would produce a social structure. That

         13  was the goals and that's what should be preserved.

         14  That's what we would like to have in Sunnyside

         15  Gardens. We don't need a museum of the experiment

         16  that Clarence Stein and Henry Wright had. We want

         17  the living experiment to continue.

         18                 Thank you.

         19                 MR. LEHRER: I'm Warren Lehrer. I'm a

         20  Professor of Design and Writing at SUNY Purchase,

         21  have been for 25 years. I'm the author of nine

         22  books, including Crossing the Boulevard, written

         23  with my wife Judith Sloan, about new immigrants and

         24  refugees in Queens, which among other awards won the

         25  Brendan Guild Prize from the Municipal Arts Society.
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          2                 More importantly, I've been a

          3  resident at Sunnyside Gardens for 20 years. It's

          4  been an Oasis for me, and I am for preservation, but

          5  I'm opposed to landmark designation.

          6                 As Ira mentioned, since 1974, the

          7  Special Plan Community Preservation District has

          8  protected the open spaces and kept the neighborhood

          9  free of any, not one, any tear-downs, McMansions,

         10  high-rises, and other inappropriate development.

         11                 We already have protections, but we

         12  don't need these extra stringent, stringent rules.

         13                 In terms of the kind of support in

         14  opposition, the much touted 2,200 signatures from

         15  residents turn out to have, in favor of landmark

         16  turn out to have 381 residents from Sunnyside

         17  Gardens. The petitions opposed to landmarking have

         18  over 500 people who are residents of Sunnyside

         19  Gardens. There is support from our State Senator,

         20  and Democrat and Republican District Leaders. Eric

         21  has come out in favor. Now, you say, Eric, that you

         22  live in the neighborhood, but you're actually not in

         23  Sunnyside Gardens, you just bought a house and you

         24  made renovations which are not subject to these

         25  kinds of rules that we're talking about, and I think
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          2  it's important that people know that.

          3                 We had a meeting with the Queens

          4  Borough President, with representatives from LPC,

          5  and she was very adamant that we form a working

          6  group, and she asked the LPC to please form a

          7  working group with members from both these

          8  organizations to preserve Sunnyside Gardens and the

          9  Alliance Preservation groups to form a working group

         10  to try to find common ground on these special rules.

         11  LPC said they would come to such a meeting or

         12  meetings, but since then they've refused and so has

         13  the Preservation Alliance.

         14                 It seems like this is a runaway train

         15  to vote this landmarking in, and if you do that,

         16  which we urge you not to, we ask that along with

         17  your vote you ask for a special working group to get

         18  past this vague kind of language. Just now we heard

         19  Sarah Carroll say when pressed about do you need the

         20  6/6 windows, she said should the Commission approve

         21  a single-pane window, then that will become the

         22  rule. Well, should they approve it, that's not we

         23  will approve it, we might, well, but should we

         24  approve it. Well, should people who have their

         25  windows denied, and then later it becomes approved

                                                            102

          1  LANDMARKS, PUBLIC SITING AND MARITIME USES

          2  and then they have to go back. And you heard that

          3  the pane --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: I'm sorry, I have

          5  to ask you to wrap up.

          6                 MR. LEHRER: The look of it for the

          7  tours that are coming now in the neighborhood, if

          8  it's in the middle of the window it's not good, it

          9  has to be on the outside, it's about the look. And

         10  these values that we heard about neighborliness,

         11  open spaces, low-density housing, it's not what's

         12  being regulated. What's being regulated are the

         13  skins.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Well, I wanted to

         15  restate, because Landmarks did testify, in terms of

         16  extensions or enlargements into the open space, that

         17  would require a Commission level hearing and

         18  approval. So, the open spaces would be regulated. I

         19  want to make sure that that's clear, because you

         20  seem to be confused.

         21                 MR. GREENBERG: Let me explain. That's

         22  right. If you want to extend your house, it will go

         23  to the full Commission, which it should, which

         24  according to the rules I think it would, and that

         25  they never do a staff approval for I guess a porch
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          2  enclosure or an extension, but if someone wanted to

          3  -- right now if you look at an open court, it's

          4  totally open. Actually this is a muse, they're not

          5  showing -- before 1974, after the easements expired

          6  and before 1974, people put fences out on their

          7  property. Right now you can't do that because the PC

          8  district.

          9                 You can't even put, believe it or

         10  not, a row of bushes out. Now someone may or may

         11  not, that would violate the zoning, and that's a

         12  whole other issue of why the zoning didn't work or

         13  did, but after the zoning is removed, you will be

         14  able to do that, and no one will be able to stop

         15  you. You could section it off by changing the

         16  landscaping. Unless there was another easement. In

         17  some cases we have other easements that are in

         18  effect that are in different places, but most places

         19  there aren't. They said they do not regulate

         20  landscaping, that's the difference between Landmarks

         21  and the PC district, landscaping was the difference.

         22                 So, I think there is an issue, and I

         23  think if Landmarks looked at this, and maybe

         24  addressed this issue, it would be a little better.

         25  No one may do it, I don't know. I'm not saying
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          2  someone will, but there is a change in the rules.

          3  And the emphasis from Landmarks is on the buildings,

          4  and you hear one talk of the open space, but why not

          5  say relax the rules on the buildings, let's look at

          6  what's important to everybody, and that's the open

          7  spaces, and stop saying if someone wants to change a

          8  window, you have to have approval.

          9                 MR. LEHRER: If I could also make a

         10  point. This is a picture of a muse, which are on the

         11  outer perimeter of the gardens, and those of us who

         12  live in the muse are angled so that it's visible

         13  from the street from both sides, as compared to the

         14  better homes which are in between, in the four

         15  blocks in between. And so, Sarah Carroll mentioned

         16  that if you have a deck and it's visible from the

         17  street, it would not be allowed. So, all of us who

         18  couldn't afford houses in the garden, the main part

         19  of the gardens, have decks that are visible from the

         20  street, because God forbid the people taking tours

         21  could see that the working class people are out on

         22  their decks, you know, having a barbeque. It's

         23  again, what are the values, are the values of what

         24  it looks like, or the values of the community?

         25                 And also, one of the reasons now we
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          2  have an outnumbering of the people pro versus con,

          3  is besides the working issue is that many people who

          4  have gotten up and spoken against landmarking have

          5  then had violations with anonymous violations called

          6  into DOB and now called into the Landmark

          7  Preservations Commission.

          8                 It's true the landmark LPC has not

          9  issued fines, but there are fines now of $2,000 and

         10  more being issued against folks because they're not

         11  in compliance with LPC, but it's a DOB fine.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Okay, thank you.

         13                 MR. LEHRER: Sure.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Council Member

         15  Gioia has one quick question.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Sir, one quick

         17  question on open space. I think I understand your

         18  concern.

         19                 MR. LEHRER: Okay.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Your concern is

         21  that there is a loophole for the open space.

         22                 MR. LEHRER: Yes, potentially.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: In other words

         24  --

         25                 MR. LEHRER: Well, there will be as
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          2  soon as the PC district is repealed.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Let me ask the

          4  question.

          5                 MR. LEHRER: Okay, go ahead.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: To be clear,

          7  when they say they don't regulate landscaping, like

          8  we don't actually want them -- in other words,

          9  someone wants to put azaleas in instead of, I don't

         10  know, what else would you put in? Give me a flower.

         11                 MR. LEHRER: Daisies.

         12                 MR. GREENGERG: Magnolias.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Rhodedendron.

         14  So, we don't want landmarking to come in and say you

         15  can't put those azaleas there, that's terrible.

         16                 MR. LEHRER: Right.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: What you're

         18  saying is you're afraid someone is going to come in

         19  and put 12 foot ferns on the entire perimeter.

         20                 MR. LEHRER: Right. Like I did on the

         21  side of my property but not up to the court.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: But it is that

         23  loophole, you're afraid that the neighbors are going

         24  to --

         25                 MR. LEHRER: Someone may do that,
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          2  right. They will discover, they'll think they can do

          3  it.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Okay.

          5                 MR. LEHRER: Not only that. Because of

          6  the letter you got, there is a letter people got,

          7  and people aren't paying much attention, they'll

          8  say, well, you know I can do this.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Gotch-ya. Okay.

         10                 MR. LEHRER: That's an easier

         11  correction in the rules. And I think community

         12  meetings could be part of it, that they're out

         13  there, change the letter to notify people that the

         14  open spaces are as protected.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Correct.

         16                 MR. LEHRER: Or even more so than the

         17  houses, so the people know they can't rip up the

         18  walk back there.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: You clearly

         20  don't want them, and no one would want them coming

         21  and telling you what you can plant, what you can't

         22  plant, so long as the open space is preserved.

         23                 MR. LEHRER: That's correct, yes.

         24                 No, I'm a strict preservationist. I

         25  think they should treat, if you really want to know,
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          2  I think they should treat the front, side and the

          3  back of the houses the same way, but I wouldn't be

          4  for any of these details on the houses.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Gotch-ya.

          6                 MR. LEHRER: Because I sit in the back

          7  of my house. The preservation for me, or for people

          8  in the community, is what we see in our back yards.

          9  I don't know if there should be a difference between

         10  the backs and the fronts.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Thank you.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: I'm sorry,

         13  gentlemen? You said that it's presently a planned

         14  community preservation district?

         15                 MR. LEHRER: Right.

         16                 MR. GREENBERG: That's correct.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: And when was

         18  that designated?

         19                 MR. GREENBERG: 1974. Because as

         20  Chairman Tierney mentioned, in the mid-sixties, most

         21  of the easements expired.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: And you're

         23  saying that the difference between the PC and the

         24  landmarking, it includes the landscaping and the

         25  gardening?

                                                            109

          1  LANDMARKS, PUBLIC SITING AND MARITIME USES

          2                 MR. GREENBERG: The PC district was

          3  very strict. As far as, you couldn't do anything,

          4  which was one of its problems. You couldn't add to

          5  your house at all. You couldn't even close the

          6  porch. You know, and again, it also said no land --

          7  you couldn't cut down a tree. They had a very

          8  interesting, I know what the Landmarks gave you.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: You don't want

         10  it to be a PC district then?

         11                 MR. GREENBERG: No, I prefer the PC

         12  district with amendments. I have no problem with the

         13  PC districts.

         14                 MR. LEHRER: We were trying to work on

         15  zoning reform, to make it prohibitive, for instance,

         16  to make curb cuts, to cover up a front yard and put

         17  in a driveway. We wanted to make it easier not to

         18  have to go through ULURP, for instance, to build a

         19  deck. We wanted there to be very easy to understand

         20  rules for new-comers, coming from all over the world

         21  into Sunnyside with these kinds of reforms and

         22  educational.

         23                 MR. GREENBERG: And, again, you know,

         24  you talk about the size of the houses, open space,

         25  as opposed to how big a house is, those are zoning
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          2  issues. Now, maybe some of these rules, you know, if

          3  you read the PC district rules, you'll start to

          4  think, wow, this is really hard to enforce, and

          5  there's a thinking that maybe an agency like

          6  Landmarks is better to enforce it. Years ago when

          7  someone suggested landmarking to me, that's what I

          8  said, but no one seemed to jump on and say, well,

          9  why don't we take the PC rules as a starting point,

         10  and have Landmarks Preservation enforce them, you

         11  know, and changing them in some way, but not with

         12  the details of the houses. But I don't know, it

         13  didn't really catch on, and I didn't push it.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: What your big

         15  issue is the inclusion of the gardens as a part of

         16  the preservation effort?

         17                 MR. GREENBERG: Right, yes. That's one

         18  of the problems I see, but also one of our biggest

         19  issues is, again, the details of the houses, and the

         20  supervision of them. I know the Council members

         21  spoke about that, you've gotten our message on that,

         22  you've talked to the Commissioner about that.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Right. They're

         24  differing opinions. Some people think the houses are

         25  worth protecting, you don't seem to believe they
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          2  are.

          3                 Councilman Comrie, Councilman Gioia

          4  wanted to make a comment in addition about the

          5  protection of the open space.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: I've just

          7  gotten a clarification from Landmarks.

          8                 MR. GREENBERG: Yes.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: It is their

         10  position that there is precedent in Douglaston, that

         11  they actually do have the legal authority to

         12  regulate the open space and that there is no

         13  loophole.

         14                 Just as I said, in other words, you

         15  can go out and plant what you want, but you can't

         16  actually do what we're concerned of.

         17                 MR. GREENBERG: Well, we should talk

         18  with them about it, because Sarah Carroll sat here

         19  and said no landscaping. And you know, when someone

         20  says one thing and then you -- I know but there are

         21  special rules for Douglaston, and there are special

         22  rules also for Riverdale and some other places, and

         23  to actually stress the Riverdale rules, which was in

         24  the '90s, are the kinds of things I think should be

         25  for Sunnyside Gardens.
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          2                 MR. LEHRER: If I can read Section

          3  25-304 of the Administrative Code of the City of New

          4  York, states that the Landmarks Commission cannot,

          5  "regulate or limit the height and bulk of

          6  buildings, nor regulate and determine the area of

          7  yards, courts and other open spaces. I believe them

          8  when they say that they earnestly want to have this

          9  as a concern, and that they will try to regulate it.

         10  But there is a quote from the law.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: I'm sorry, but we

         12  need to move on to the next panel. Thank you.

         13                 MR. LEHRER: Yes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Julie Story,

         15  Renee Williams, Keenan Hughes and Amanda Lehman.

         16                 To be followed by Elaine Nickolan,

         17  Shahid Ahmed, Susan Fitzgibbon and Margaret Hedrick.

         18                 MS. STORY: Good morning. Good

         19  afternoon. My name is Julie Story. I've lived in the

         20  area since 1996 and I've been a homeowner in the

         21  Gardens since 1999.

         22                 Sunnyside Gardens is the only

         23  neighborhood of its kind in the City, the open

         24  greenspaces, towering trees, beautiful individual

         25  gardens that surround the symmetrical slate roofed
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          2  rowhouses combine to create soothing retreat to the

          3  diverse people who live there, and the rare birds

          4  that migrate through the area and nest there each

          5  year.

          6                 These are all the aspects of the

          7  gardens that people cherish, and I think we've

          8  established that. Very recently, because of the lack

          9  of enforcement of the existing special zoning laws

         10  to which my colleagues referred, I watched some new

         11  homeowners destroy a slate roof, rip out every tree

         12  in the yard, cut an illegal driveway and cover the

         13  yard with concrete, put up a fence, and now three

         14  large SUVs sit inside the fence. This has to stop,

         15  in my view.

         16                 Because property deeds are not

         17  properly marked with any indication of special

         18  zoning guidelines, people often move into the

         19  guidelines with no knowledge of the history and the

         20  rules governing the renovations.

         21                 Then illegal renovations begin and a

         22  neighbor is set against a neighbor, and this has to

         23  stop also.

         24                 Landmarking will require that the

         25  deeds be notated such that newcomers will be fully
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          2  informed about what they're buying into, and it will

          3  strengthen the City's ability to enforce the

          4  guidelines critical to the preserving of things that

          5  we love about the gardens, and it will remove the

          6  pressure from the people who live there to try to

          7  sort it out amongst themselves.

          8                 I support landmarks designation.

          9                 MS. WILLIAMS: Good morning, Council

         10  Members. My name is Renee Williams. I am a renter in

         11  Sunnyside Gardens, and a native New Yorker. I first

         12  heard about Sunnyside Gardens in 1990 as a special

         13  place in the course of the history of the

         14  architecture of New York City at Cooper Union.

         15                 When I walked through the gardens I

         16  understood what the original planners had in mind. I

         17  saw the towering London Plain Trees, streetside

         18  gardens, each one uniquely different, fronting

         19  houses, arranged among a landscape that created a

         20  true feeling of neighborhood. And I'm just going to

         21  say that in terms of the houses that were spoken of

         22  previously, what makes it so great is that there is

         23  a continuity of architecture that makes it seem that

         24  the neighborhood is very equalitarian and you do not

         25  feel that one neighbor is more prominent than the
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          2  other, and that makes it a very comfortable and very

          3  cohesive place to live in.

          4                 I'm going to go through this and just

          5  read a couple of comments from a couple of my

          6  neighbors, senior neighbors who lived here 50 years

          7  or more.

          8                 "I lived in Sunnyside Gardens since

          9  1941 and owned my home since 1957. This is a unique

         10  neighborhood. It is endangered and needs to be

         11  preserved. I'm in favor of landmark designation and

         12  I urge you to vote in favor of this designation.

         13  Please help us preserve this jewel." This is from

         14  Charles George.

         15                 Dorothy Doyle. "My parents are

         16  deceased and I have owned our home in Sunnyside

         17  Gardens since 1950. I totally support landmarking

         18  designation for Sunnyside Gardens."

         19                 Peter Strauss. "I've lived in

         20  Sunnyside Gardens for 60 years, a unique community

         21  that deserves landmark status. The gardens unique

         22  design significance is taught in every college,

         23  architectural program in the US and it's long past

         24  time that it's special nature be recognized and

         25  protected."
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          2                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.

          3                 MS. LEHMAN: Good afternoon. I'm

          4  Amanda Lehman, speaking on behalf of New York

          5  Chapter of the AIA.

          6                 Dear Chair Lappin:

          7                 On behalf of the New York Chapter of

          8  the New York American Institute of Architects and

          9  its more than 4,000 architect and public members, we

         10  respectfully submit this letter of support for the

         11  confirmation of Sunnyside Gardens, Queens, as an

         12  historic district.

         13                 We join the voices of our colleagues

         14  at the AIA Queens in calling for this confirmation,

         15  because preserving Sunnyside Gardens is a matter of

         16  importance, not only for residents of the immediate

         17  area and the Borough of Queens, but for all

         18  residents in New York City.

         19                 It is the responsibility of our

         20  elected and appointed officials to define, delineate

         21  and protect districts that have a distinctive and

         22  irreplaceable historic character.

         23                 As architects, we at the AIA New York

         24  Chapter feel especially strongly that Sunnyside

         25  Gardens requires protection. The neighborhood is one
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          2  of New York's best remaining examples of planning

          3  from the City beautiful movement. It's unique

          4  character is quiet and modern with an understated

          5  and elegant design. The scale and charming details,

          6  the internal courts and the consistent brick lined

          7  streets all contribute to a peaceful and cohesive

          8  whole.

          9                 The architectural concepts and

         10  integrity of this planned community must be

         11  preserved.

         12                 As New York City transforms at an

         13  increasingly rapid pace, it becomes vital that

         14  historical, cultural and architecturally significant

         15  areas be granted the protection of the Landmarks

         16  Law, if we are to preserve them for future

         17  generations. We are delighted that the New York City

         18  Landmarks Preservation Commission has designated

         19  Sunnyside Gardens as a historic district, and we

         20  urge the Council to confirm this designation.

         21                 Thank you very much.

         22                 MR. HUGHES: Good afternoon, Council

         23  members. I am Keenan Hughes, speaking on behalf of

         24  the Municipal Arts Society's Preservation Committee.

         25  The Committee enthusiastically supports the historic
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          2  district designation of Sunnyside Gardens.

          3                 The Gardens is an internationally

          4  recognized of quality in the design and plan of

          5  residential living for low- and middle-income

          6  families. Clarence Stein and Henry Wright designed

          7  Sunnyside Gardens to provide low- and middle-income

          8  families health, open space, greenery and idyllic

          9  community living for all.

         10                 Today it is a thriving and distinct

         11  neighborhood that clearly deserves the permanent

         12  protection of historic district designation.

         13                 While many in the community support

         14  the designation, some have raised concerns about how

         15  restrictive the commission will be.

         16                 The commission regularly reviews and

         17  approves proposal for alterations, additions and new

         18  buildings in the City's 80 historic districts.

         19                 Many of the most common applications

         20  go through an expedited staff review. Residents will

         21  find that this designation rolls out in a more

         22  orderly and clear permitting process than existed

         23  under the special plan community preservation

         24  district.

         25                 That said, we understand that there
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          2  is some concern over the Commission's jurisdiction

          3  over intrusions into the gardens. We have been

          4  assured that the Commission will regulate those

          5  protected areas carefully as they do in districts

          6  across the City.

          7                 The Landmarks Preservation

          8  Commission, made up of experts in the field of

          9  architecture, architectural history, planning, real

         10  estate and preservation is the City's agency charged

         11  with determining what buildings and sites are so

         12  important that they deserve protection.

         13                 This is not a decision the

         14  Commissioner's make lightly. Several years of survey

         15  work, community meetings and public hearings inform

         16  the Commission's vote. The record before the

         17  Commission was clear on the outstanding merits of

         18  the Sunnyside Gardens Historic District. The

         19  Municipal Arts Society hopes that the Council will

         20  satisfy itself that this district deserves the

         21  protection of the law, notwithstanding the

         22  opposition of some property owners.

         23                 Without district designation, the

         24  cohesiveness, unique history and special fabric at

         25  Sunnyside Gardens remains at risk.
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          2                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.

          3                 The next panel will be Elaine

          4  Nickolan, Shahid Ahmed, Susan Fitzbiggon, Margaret

          5  Hedrick. Did we lose a couple?

          6                 Do we have a couple more in

          7  opposition? No, that's the last. Okay. Whomever

          8  would like to testify first. You pick.

          9                 MS. NICKOLAN: Good morning. My name

         10  is Elaine Nickolan, and I am a home owner and

         11  resident of Sunnyside Gardens.

         12                 I'm not going to parade anybody in

         13  front of you and tell you what their grandfather

         14  would have liked to have had, what I want to tell

         15  you is what the residents of Sunnyside Gardens has

         16  endured since this thing began.

         17                 What happened is it used to be

         18  neighbor can I help you? Now it comes out that

         19  people come out to spy on you. All you have to do is

         20  go into your yard and hammer a nail, there are

         21  people out there asking what are you doing? And the

         22  next thing you know you have the Department of

         23  Buildings looking in on you.

         24                 I'm not going to tell you that the

         25  brick enticed my parents to move to Sunnyside
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          2  Gardens. The greenery, the bushes, that's what

          3  brought my parents to Sunnyside Gardens 40 years

          4  ago, and that's what I came back to Sunnyside

          5  Gardens for. It's odd that some of the people that

          6  spy on us are the same people who have covered up

          7  the Hudson brick of their homes with stucco and have

          8  bay windows, yet are now trying to enforce on other

          9  people their will of having these same things done.

         10                 I spoke out at a meeting against

         11  landmarking in February, and the next thing I knew I

         12  had the Department of Buildings at my home again

         13  issuing another violation for an emergency that was

         14  called in by one of my neighbors.

         15                 It was the coldest day of the year.

         16  There were people in New York City without heat. A

         17  mother accidently smothered her child trying to keep

         18  it safe from rats, and yet, the Department of

         19  Buildings was being wielded as an act of retribution

         20  on people who spoke out against landmarking.

         21                 Other people that spoke out against

         22  landmarking found themselves violated that day also

         23  for decks that had been erected ten to 12 years ago.

         24  The representative from DOB had to pass by other

         25  decks larger than the decks already that they
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          2  violated, but those decks belong to people who were

          3  pro landmarking. If you check the records, you will

          4  see what what I'm saying is true to you.

          5                 Councilman Gioia, you always tell

          6  people you live in Sunnyside Gardens. You do not.

          7  You live in Sunnyside. You will not have to endure

          8  what we do every day. You had the option of changing

          9  windows on your home without deciding whether or not

         10  it would be approved by Landmarks.

         11                 You had visits from DOB also. I'm

         12  sure you didn't enjoy those visits.

         13                 I just want to finish up by saying

         14  that the people of Sunnyside Gardens do not all

         15  favor this. I am in favor of landmarking. I just

         16  don't think that my home should be taken away from

         17  me without my approval. I don't think I should need

         18  to take out a loan to handle the increased cost of

         19  complying with landmarking. I keep my home

         20  beautiful. My mother taught me to keep the yard

         21  beautiful, and I would like to continue that, but I

         22  don't think that I need restrictions or my neighbors

         23  telling me what to do or spying on me, because that

         24  was not the original intent for the people that

         25  build this neighborhood. It was for people to be
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          2  with people and be neighbors, not spies.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Go ahead.

          5                 MS. FITZGIBBONS: My name is Susan

          6  Fitzgibbons. I live across from the Councilman Eric

          7  Gioia, and I am in my home 40 years. I raised seven

          8  children and I have now seven grandchildren, and we

          9  do not want landmarking. We cannot afford it. And I

         10  do not like, I had neighbors come take pictures, I

         11  had a new porch steps put in and they were coming to

         12  take pictures to turn me into the City. I had to

         13  repair the old ones, broken down. I want to do a lot

         14  of work on my house, but the neighbors is coming,

         15  taking pictures and trying to report me. I do not

         16  want landmark. I can't afford it. Engineers and

         17  architects come into my house, there is no way I can

         18  afford it. I do not want landmark in Sunnyside

         19  Gardens. I live right across from you, as you know,

         20  and I do not want it. I can't afford it.

         21                 Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Thank you.

         23                 Councilman Gioia.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Thank you,

         25  Madam Chair. I just wanted to say just a few things.
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          2                 One, I really do think it's terrible

          3  when people act in an unneighborly way. I think it's

          4  absolutely terrible. And I've said that to you and

          5  others who have complained to me.

          6                 MS. NICKOLAN: But we continue to live

          7  there, Councilman, and will continue --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: I'm sorry, this

          9  is not a back and forth.

         10                 MS. NICKOLAN: I'm sorry.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: That's okay. I

         12  understand, you're rightfully upset. It's natural

         13  and I appreciate that.

         14                 You know, there's a few quick points.

         15  One, I agree with you, and I don't think it's

         16  particularly helpful in any neighborhood where you

         17  have folks, you know, calling up on each other. It's

         18  just not a great way to live.

         19                 When I walked in here today, you

         20  know, I kind of felt like a wedding, you walk in,

         21  you've got bride side, groom side, but at the end of

         22  the day after years you start having one family, and

         23  my hope is, is that while I think some people

         24  probably have acted on both sides of the issue, by

         25  the way, in ways that they're probably not even
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          2  proud of themselves, that time will heal that.

          3                 A few quick points on what you

          4  mentioned. You're right, I live, and most folks know

          5  where I live, I live three doors outside the

          6  landmarked district. I had nothing to do with

          7  drawing the lines. I mean, it's just kind of a crazy

          8  concept that I would, and, yes, I renovated my

          9  house. And I would have had no trouble putting in

         10  6/6 windows at all, or buying this kit. I'd have

         11  Leroy come over and do it himself, he seems to have

         12  some experience with it. But you know, it's funny

         13  because Department of Buildings did come in to see

         14  me. And you know, I didn't ask them who called up on

         15  me. I thought it was slightly annoying and kind of

         16  funny. They found no violations and I went on my

         17  way. So I do know what you're talking about.

         18                 But what I say to you is, I recognize

         19  that someone probably called up in a fit of peak or

         20  however you want to look at it, but let me conclude

         21  by saying this: There is one day I got annoyed. A

         22  guy came up to my house and he was pretty opposed to

         23  landmarking. He was yelling pretty loudly, and you

         24  know, it's part of my job that folks will yell at me

         25  sometimes, but I didn't appreciate that he was
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          2  yelling, and I've got a little baby and she started

          3  crying and I asked him to kind of move on his way. I

          4  truly didn't appreciate it, I have to say. As much

          5  as you want to disagree with me, you can come here,

          6  you can come to my office, whatever, but you don't

          7  knock on my door and start yelling and that sort of

          8  thing.

          9                 That being said, I ran for office,

         10  and it's part of kind of the occupational hazard

         11  that that's going to happen from time to time. You

         12  are a private citizen, however, and you should have

         13  the opportunity to speak up at a public hearing and

         14  not have retribution, as you say, and so I apologize

         15  that that's happened to you, and I think that most

         16  folks here, whether they're for landmarking or

         17  against landmarking will tell you that whatever your

         18  position is you shouldn't be getting harassed. So,

         19  let me just say that publicly. And whether someone

         20  is for landmarking or against landmarking and they

         21  want to make renovations on their house. My office

         22  will help you. And we will be your advocate to

         23  landmarking, and I know there are others, like

         24  Deidra Feerick, who will do the same thing.

         25                 And, so, I don't want anyone to think
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          2  just because you opposed landmarking and I'm for it

          3  that you can't call my office and we won't try to

          4  help you fix your house. That's not the case. In

          5  fact, in the past few weeks we've been doing just

          6  that.

          7                 So, thank you for coming down to

          8  testify.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: The next panel is

         10  Herbert Reynolds, Jeffrey Kroessler, Simein Bankoff

         11  and Michael Scarborough.

         12                 MR. SCARBOROUGH: I prepared for three

         13  minutes, so I'll speak very quickly.

         14                 My name is Michael Scarborough, a

         15  designer, cabinet maker, and antique furniture

         16  conservator and I have lived and worked in Sunnyside

         17  Gardens for 15 years.

         18                 There are people who have said that

         19  Sunnyside Gardens is not architecturally

         20  significant. Well, neither is Abraham Lincoln's log

         21  cabin, but it's certainly worth saving. This book is

         22  from Tashen, the leading international publisher of

         23  books on architecture and design. It's from a series

         24  of books, giving examples of the most important

         25  contributions to 20th century architecture, and here
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          2  in the volume on the 1920s, nestled among pictures

          3  of beautiful homes and places as diverse as Vienna,

          4  Nagoia and Paris is a page devoted to Sunnyside

          5  Gardens.

          6                 If the editors of this book feel that

          7  Sunnyside Gardens is significant enough to include

          8  among those homes, shouldn't we consider it

          9  significant enough to preserve?

         10                 Besides being architecturally

         11  significant, Sunnyside Gardens is socially very

         12  significant, not only historically but currently.

         13  Queens is well known for its many ethnocentric

         14  neighborhoods, but I dare you to find a community as

         15  diverse within itself as Sunnyside Gardens.

         16                 When I walk around my neighborhood, I

         17  can hear Icelandic, Korean, Bengali, French,

         18  Japanese, Spanish, Chinese, Russian and even

         19  English. On my street there are teachers, musicians

         20  and artists, moms, fireman, a nurse, a hairdresser,

         21  a costume designer, a taxi driver, and among all

         22  this cultural and socioeconomic diversity, we have

         23  one thing in common, the houses in which we live.

         24  The very houses pictured in this book. Every time

         25  the exterior of another one of our houses is
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          2  structurally altered or turned into a McMansion to

          3  increase its resale value, this diverse community

          4  loses some of what it holds in common.

          5                 There is no more fervent advocate of

          6  historic preservation than I. But advocacy comes

          7  with a caveat: the beautiful brick and mortar homes

          8  of the gardens should not be preserved at the

          9  expense of the flesh and blood people that make up

         10  the community. I support the landmark process, but

         11  only if it would be implemented with respect,

         12  compassion and manners. The members of the Landmarks

         13  Preservation Commission themselves have acted

         14  professionally, have gone to great lengths to be

         15  forthcoming with information on this difficult and

         16  contentious process, and I have every reason to

         17  believe that they will continue to do so.

         18                 My concern is with the behavior of

         19  we, the people who actually inhabit the homes we

         20  seek to preserve. Whether the landmark status is

         21  approved or not, it is my hope that the in-fighting,

         22  neighbor informing on neighbor and partisan agendae

         23  that have ripped us apart will cease now and the

         24  community will come together and begin to heal

         25  itself.
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          2                 Thank you.

          3                 MR. REYNOLDS: Madam Chair, and

          4  members of the Subcommittee. I am Herbert Reynolds.

          5  I am a home owner and a co-founder of the Sunnyside

          6  Gardens Preservation Alliance. The goal of our

          7  organization has been to bring forward the request

          8  of our neighborhood for landmarks designation, and

          9  we're delighted by the unanimous consent of the LPC.

         10                 As we now seek the affirmation of the

         11  City Council, I've been very glad to speak with most

         12  of the members of this Subcommittee, so the majority

         13  of you have already heard the nice things that I

         14  have to say about Sunnyside.

         15                 But ours is very much a

         16  community-driven movement, and the multitude of my

         17  neighbors speaks far more powerfully to their desire

         18  for landmarks designation than I can.

         19                 That's why our organization is

         20  sharing with each of you this sampler of upwards of

         21  300 items of written testimony submitted to the LPC

         22  in favor of Sunnyside Gardens. They're handwritten,

         23  types or e-mailed. There is some expert testimony

         24  here and there are endorsements from our elected

         25  officials. Still, by and large, you will see that
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          2  the super abundance of these statements come from

          3  Sunnyside residents themselves, whom I think you'll

          4  find extraordinarily persuasive. I would like to

          5  have read you three samples to wet your appetite. I

          6  will read you one from Gina Fabiano.

          7                 "I think I speak for most when I say

          8  it was the look of the neighborhood that brought so

          9  many of us here in the first place. The trees, the

         10  gardens, and most of all, the beautiful uniformed

         11  brick houses that hold a timeless elegance in their

         12  architecture."

         13                 There are many New York neighborhoods

         14  that allow for individualization and expansion,

         15  Sunnyside Gardens is unique because it was designed

         16  at one time with architectural theme and community

         17  focus. To alter this intention does a grave

         18  injustice to this historic community.

         19                 As homeowners we own a small piece of

         20  this community for a relatively short time. It's the

         21  architectural legacy of Sunnyside Gardens that will

         22  endure beyond all of us, and should be protected for

         23  future generations.

         24                 Please consider what is best for this

         25  tiny gem, so precious and fragile.
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          2                 Thank you.

          3                 MR. KROESSLER: Good afternoon. My

          4  name is Jeffrey Kroessler. I am a home owner in

          5  Sunnyside Garden. I am a historian of New York City

          6  and a preservationist and I am wildly in favor of

          7  historic preservation and designation. I do this as

          8  someone who appreciates the architecture and design

          9  and layout and footprint and open space of Sunnyside

         10  Gardens more than anyone else.

         11                 This is a neighborhood that has

         12  always been protected, except for one brief moment

         13  when the covenants lapped in the 1960s, and a lot of

         14  bad things happened until the special PC district

         15  came in.

         16                 Unlike many supporters of landmarks,

         17  I want the PC designation to remain. I want every

         18  one of the restrictions listed in the PC designation

         19  to become the basis for the regulation of Sunnyside

         20  Gardens by the Landmarks Commission.

         21                 I appreciate the assurances of Bob

         22  Tierney and his staff, that they will regulate on a

         23  360 area; however, I want it in writing that the

         24  footprint of our neighborhood will be protected

         25  because our assumption is that we want the
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          2  regulations of the PC designation to remain in

          3  place, (a). (B) we want the additional regulation of

          4  Landmarks. I want the beauty of our neighborhood to

          5  be respected, recognized and protected.

          6                 One more point. Last week a homeowner

          7  began bricking in his original open porch.

          8  Landmarks, DOB and City Planning were all informed.

          9  Within an hour the Landmarks Commission came back

         10  and inspected this and by the end of the day, this

         11  person's work was stopped. We appreciate the

         12  Landmarks Commission for their efficiency and their

         13  recognition of what the historic character of our

         14  neighborhood needs. So, thank you very much.

         15                 MR. BANKOFF: Good afternoon. I'm

         16  Simein Bankoff, Executive Director of the Historic

         17  Districts Council. HDC is the Citywide advocate for

         18  New York's historical neighborhoods. We're

         19  extraordinarily pleased to have the opportunity to

         20  testify before the City Council in support of the

         21  designation of the Sunnyside Gardens Historic

         22  District.

         23                 We're working closely with members of

         24  the Sunnyside Gardens community since mid-2003 on

         25  this preservation effort and in that time have
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          2  participated in numerous public information panels

          3  about this effort.

          4                 In fact, almost three years ago

          5  exactly, on October 18th, 2004, we hosted a free

          6  panel called before and after Landmark designation,

          7  real stories from neighbors at the Sunnyside

          8  Community Services Center, featuring homeowners and

          9  residents from Historic Districts in Douglaston,

         10  Jackson Heights and St. George telling their stories

         11  about how their neighborhoods have fared under

         12  landmark designation, and we look forward to

         13  enlisting some of the residents of Sunnyside Gardens

         14  to participate in similar panels of the future.

         15                 It's transparently obvious to anyone

         16  who has visited Sunnyside Gardens, that the area

         17  possesses a unique character and sense of place

         18  derived from its built form.

         19                 This character is created from the

         20  interplay of simple consistent architectural

         21  patterns and verdant graciously planned open spaces

         22  and landscapes.

         23                 Working together these components

         24  invoke a harmonious, unpretentious and welcoming

         25  feel to the neighborhood, which is very much in
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          2  keeping with the noble ideals espoused by the

          3  community's designers.

          4                 In truth, this designation is one of

          5  those instances where the social and cultural

          6  significance of an area is at least equal to its

          7  architectural importance. By specifically mandating

          8  the incorporation of open space into the area's

          9  design, these buildings went beyond their avowed

         10  purpose of promoting physical health to create a

         11  sense of neighborhood cohesiveness seemingly lost in

         12  other parts of modern life.

         13                 In a way, these courtyards are the

         14  antithesis of the later "towers in the park"

         15  developments which were promulgated by later

         16  generations of planners and have done so much damage

         17  to our urban environment. The prevalence of that

         18  failed design, and the continued success of

         19  Sunnyside Gardens only underscores this

         20  neighborhood's continuing relevance about how we

         21  think about the City.

         22                 The houses themselves were designed

         23  with the intentional simplicity using common design

         24  elements to allow for affordable mass construction.

         25  Details such as Colonial revival doorways, et
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          2  cetera, create a visual variety. In this respect

          3  they are no different than the repetitive elements

          4  of brownstone rows in earlier developments and are

          5  equally important.

          6                 This is a good thing. Please affirm

          7  it.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: We definitely

          9  have to save the et cetera.

         10                 Thank you very much. Do any of my

         11  colleagues have questions? Okay, thank you very

         12  much.

         13                 The next panel, and the remaining

         14  speakers are all signed up to testify in favor,

         15  Christine Hunter, Nicolas Ronderos, Roger Lang and

         16  Rose Tibaldi.

         17                 If there is somebody here who would

         18  like to speak, if you could fill out another one

         19  we'll -- please begin.

         20                 MR. RONDEROS: Good afternoon. My name

         21  is Nicolas Ronderos, I am City Planner for Regional

         22  Plan Association.

         23                 Regional Plan Association wants to

         24  express its unconditional support for designation of

         25  Sunnyside Gardens as a historic district. As the
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          2  first and pioneer Garden City movement community

          3  built in America, this example of urbanism and

          4  architecture is a tribute to 20th Century worker

          5  housing developments as the prototype for later work

          6  at Radburn, New Jersey, Chatham Village in

          7  Pittsburgh and the New Deal Greenbelt Towns. It

          8  remains as a model of human scaled, compact and

          9  livable communities that inspire urban planners

         10  today. By designating the community as a historic

         11  district the Council will ensure that this remains

         12  the case for future generations.

         13                 As you are well aware, the Special

         14  Planned Community Preservation District now in place

         15  protects Sunnyside Gardens only partially. A

         16  proposed text amendment would eliminate these

         17  existing City Planning Commission special permit

         18  requirements for development, enlargement or

         19  substantial alteration of landscaping or topography.

         20                 The architectural building integrity

         21  is thus not currently protected.

         22                 Also, the current preservation

         23  district doesn't protect the Phipps Garden

         24  Apartments, part of the community site plan. In

         25  order to safeguard the architecture and complete
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          2  site plan, including Phipps Gardens Apartments,

          3  Sunnyside Gardens should be designated as a historic

          4  district.

          5                 We believe that this designation will

          6  safeguard one of Queens' historic, aesthetic and

          7  cultural heritage resources and encourage civic

          8  pride in the beauty and accomplishments of the past.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 MS. TIBALDI: Good afternoon. My name

         11  is Rose Tibaldi, and along with my sister Mary, have

         12  been homeowners in Sunnyside Gardens for 26 years.

         13  We are landmarked designation supporters. Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Thank you very

         15  much.

         16                 Ms. Glassman, if you would like to

         17  come and speak please? This will be the final panel

         18  in opposition.

         19                 To be followed by Darlene Routh,

         20  Laura Heim, Frampton Tolbert and Liz Reynolds, will

         21  be the next panel.

         22                 MS. GLASSMAN: Is this on? I would

         23  first like to note that the imbalance in pro and

         24  con, if you will notice, many people who are in

         25  favor are not residents. They may be in favor, but I
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          2  think what should be taken into account largely are

          3  the residents and homeowners. Not Astoria Historical

          4  and the Artists Association, et cetera. So, it looks

          5  heavily laden, but that's one of the reasons.

          6                 My name is Barbara Glassman. I'm a

          7  63-year resident of Sunnyside, a Sunnyside Gardens

          8  homeowner and an art preservationist, and I

          9  fervently oppose the landmarking of Sunnyside

         10  Gardens since important structural elements have

         11  already been protected by regulations stipulated

         12  under the garden status as a special planned

         13  community district since 1974.

         14                 The contemporary disciples of the

         15  Albert Spear vision of urban architecture, in this

         16  case the Landmarks Preservation Commissioners, as

         17  well as some local architect opportunists in

         18  Sunnywide have decided, as did Spear, who was the

         19  master architect of the Third Reich, to elevate the

         20  structural aspect in disregard for the human element

         21  of this proposal.

         22                 Their disdain for the prime intent of

         23  the designing architects, Stein, Wright and Cautley,

         24  to create an affordable idyllic living environment

         25  for middle- and lower-economic dwellers is
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          2  despicable. The result to date has been to create

          3  discord, polarization and spying among neighbors. It

          4  has also adversely affected the larger community by

          5  a rush to gentrification by investors.

          6                 I am equally disturbed by the

          7  cavalier dispatchment of my property rights as

          8  guaranteed by the 5th and 14th Amendments to the

          9  Constitution of the United States. The United States

         10  Constitution grants every citizen the right and

         11  privilege to own property. This is a privilege that

         12  our founding fathers deemed central in creating our

         13  great democracy. This is a privilege that is denied

         14  the citizens of some other countries.

         15                 The 14th Amendment of the

         16  Constitution further states that no state shall make

         17  or --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: I'm going to have

         19  to ask you to wrap up.

         20                 MS. GLASSMAN: I am very close to the

         21  end, if I might finish.

         22                 ... Make or enforce any law which

         23  shall abridge the privileges of citizens including

         24  our privilege to own property. By landmarking our

         25  property, you will be abridging my constitutional
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          2  right to own property and to live in my property as

          3  I see fit.

          4                 By dictating to me what I can do with

          5  my property, you are going against the fundamental

          6  core of our democracy and our Bill of Rights. At a

          7  time when many are alarmed that current practices

          8  that seem to erode some of our civil liberties, we

          9  must be vigilant. This is the ending.

         10                 I have proposed a reasonable

         11  compromise to our Council representative, Eric

         12  Gioia, who can remain disinterested, as he resides

         13  near but not in Sunnyside Gardens.

         14                 The compromise provision would allow

         15  current owners to opt out of landmarked designation

         16  for their homes on an individual basis. When the

         17  property is sold, it would then be bound by the

         18  landmarked status regulations. The major principle

         19  in effect being that the new owners would consent by

         20  virtue of knowledge of the landmarked status at the

         21  time of purchase. I implore this body to consider

         22  the ramifications of this undemocratic process of

         23  landmarking on the residents and the greater

         24  community, or at least to allow for modifications

         25  which will recognize the basic rights of the
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          2  citizens of this neighborhood.

          3                 Please be aware that this opinion is

          4  representative of a capricious number of Sunnyside

          5  Gardens residents.

          6                 Thank you very much for your

          7  consideration.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Thank you.

          9                 Darlene Routh, Laura Heim, Frampton

         10  Tolbert and Liz Reynolds. To be followed by Julius

         11  Pfeuffer, Gerry Perrin, Daniel Allen and I think

         12  this says Livia Westervelt.

         13                 MS. ROUTH: Good afternoon. I'm

         14  Darlene Routh, and I've been a homeowner of

         15  Sunnyside Gardens for a week and a half now. And of

         16  course, everything everyone has mentioned is what's

         17  drawn me to the neighborhood, and I'm enthusiastic

         18  and excited about keeping as valuable and beautiful

         19  and community-oriented as it is. We've met all of

         20  our neighbors now and just really looking forward to

         21  contributing to this.

         22                 I'm also going to read some

         23  contributions from people who are also recent

         24  homeowners.

         25                 Mark Lilaca said, "I'm just writing
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          2  to express my support for Landmarks designation in

          3  Sunnyside Gardens. I moved there three years ago and

          4  was drawn to the area because of the gardens and

          5  small scale architecture, which is so seldom found

          6  in a City full of apartment buildings and

          7  skyscrapers. I am a life-long resident of Queens and

          8  have seen so many neighborhoods destroyed because of

          9  overdevelopment and/or lack of concern or care. I am

         10  now teaching at PS 50 in Sunnyside and have learned

         11  from my students that the gardens is definitely seen

         12  as special.

         13                 I have seen too many changes to the

         14  neighborhood in only three years, and would urge you

         15  to landmark Sunnyside Gardens to put a stop to

         16  further development."

         17                 Another homeowner, Ricki Lizald,

         18  said, "I am a homeowner in Sunnyside Gardens and I

         19  am in full support of landmarks for the Gardens. I

         20  think it's vital to the history and the people that

         21  live in the neighborhood. Please landmark." Thank

         22  you, and I echo that.

         23                 MS. HEIM: Good afternoon. I'm Laura

         24  Heim. I'm a resident of three years of Sunnyside

         25  Gardens, and I'm here to strongly encourage you to
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          2  vote to affirm the designation of Sunnyside Gardens

          3  as New York City's newest historic district.

          4                 As an architect practicing in the

          5  neighborhood since March 2006, having the honor of

          6  representing the first two homeowners who went

          7  through a full hearing with the Landmarks Commission

          8  and were approved, I am convinced that the Landmarks

          9  Preservation Commission is the agency which can best

         10  regulate our neighborhood.

         11                 Sunnyside Gardens, as you know, has a

         12  long history of regulations beginning with the

         13  covenant, and because of these clear regulations and

         14  the clear boundaries are a planned community, we

         15  still fortunately have many of the unique features

         16  which distinguish our special place.

         17                 While the regulations within the

         18  Special Plan Community Preservation District are

         19  excellent in their intention to protect our

         20  landscape and our rear courtyards by hindering

         21  enlargements, fences, curbcuts, and paved yards,

         22  they are difficult for homeowners to use as the

         23  ULURP process is technically required for every

         24  simple modification which impacts the landscape.

         25                 Unfortunately, City Planning has no
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          2  role in the enforcement and the text is vague. So,

          3  to be honest, what has happened is that our

          4  neighborhood is filled with illegal work. And one

          5  has to call it in or it continues.

          6                 Fortunately, the Landmarks

          7  Commission, with the Department of Buildings, now

          8  has the authority to stop this illegal work and

          9  preserve our neighborhood, which they have been

         10  successfully doing since our designation in June

         11  2007. It works. By becoming a historic district, the

         12  simple changes homeowners want to make will be

         13  clearly and efficiently handled at staff level by

         14  the LPC and any proposed more significant

         15  modifications will have to be reviewed in a public

         16  hearing, as they should do now, with City Planning's

         17  ULURP process.

         18                 The majority of our neighborhood has

         19  clearly supported this effort to protect our

         20  beautiful brick-lined streets and unique courtyards.

         21                 Architecture and planning students

         22  around the world study Sunnyside Gardens. Please

         23  vote to protect our neighborhood.

         24                 MS. REYNOLDS: Good afternoon. My name

         25  is Liz Reynolds. My husband and I have owned our
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          2  home in Sunnyside Gardens for 21 years, and I'm

          3  honored to be here today taking annual leave,

          4  vacation day, to be with you all.

          5                 I am president of Harrison Place, one

          6  of the two largest homeowner associations in

          7  Sunnyside Gardens. Our Board of nine members is

          8  unanimously in favor of landmarks designation, with

          9  over 75 percent of our homeowners having informally

         10  requested designation to the Landmarks Commission.

         11                 Although we are a diverse community,

         12  what unites us is our appreciation of the

         13  neighborhood's history and amazing architectural

         14  plan that affords us modest but charming

         15  well-designed homes surrounded by an abundance of

         16  open space. I can tell you from going door-to-door

         17  around the neighborhood with other volunteers that

         18  the enthusiastic endorsement for landmarking in our

         19  association is not unusual across the neighborhood.

         20                 I would like to read a few comments

         21  from neighbors who couldn't be here, but who also

         22  urge you to vote in favor.

         23                 Dan Worth says, "I am writing in

         24  support of landmarking Sunnyside Gardens. My family

         25  lived in the neighborhood for four generations, and
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          2  I now live in the home that my family bought right

          3  after the neighborhood was built.

          4                 The physical character that makes

          5  Sunnyside Gardens so unique is extremely important

          6  to me."

          7                 Rosemary Trainer says, "I have lived

          8  here for 54 years. Now I am 88 years old and wish

          9  Sunnyside Gardens would stay the perfectly preserved

         10  place it was before people with money moved in and

         11  started turning their houses into palaces that

         12  mocked every working family in the neighborhood.

         13  Please designate us and don't wait. I'd like to see

         14  this happen in my lifetime."

         15                 Tanya Hernandez writes, "I am a

         16  homeowner raising a young family here and I cannot

         17  think of a better way to maintain the special

         18  character of this area for generations to come."

         19                 Thank you.

         20                 MR. TOLBERT: I'm Frampton Tolbert,

         21  and I have statements from ten residents of

         22  Sunnyside Gardens, including Steven Udalofis, Helena

         23  Sashin, Savory Moore, Eve Chaptal and Peter Hayes,

         24  and I'm going to read two of those statements.

         25                 The first statement from Fred Tossi.
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          2  "I have owned a two-family home in Sunnyside

          3  Gardens for nearly 20 years. I have seen many

          4  changes wrought by homeowners which were detrimental

          5  to the architectural significance of this historic

          6  important community.

          7                 I strongly support landmarking as the

          8  only effective way to preserve this unique

          9  community."

         10                 Morgan O'Flannery writes, "I am a

         11  homeowner in Sunnyside Gardens for the past eight

         12  years and I support the landmarking initiative in my

         13  neighborhood.

         14                 I love the open courts and incentive

         15  neighborliness that it engenders. This is a closenet

         16  community and I feel very safe here. Please help us

         17  save our very unique and historic community."

         18                 Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Julius Pfeuffer,

         20  Gerry Perrin, Daniel Allen and Livia Westervelt.

         21                 To be followed by Veronique Marcus,

         22  Catherine O'Flaherty, Jeremy Kareken and Arthur

         23  Pearson.

         24                 MS. WESTERVELT: Hello. I'm Livia

         25  Westervelt. I first moved to Sunnyside Gardens as a
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          2  ten-year-old immigrant from Estonia with my parents,

          3  and I loved it so much growing there that I bought a

          4  house when I married soon after at 18 and raised my

          5  children there. My elderly mother remained in her

          6  original house until 94 years old. Because of the

          7  caring community, her neighbors doing her snow

          8  shoveling and her walks and so on, and because of

          9  the low cost, because I have heard people mention

         10  that, she was a low-income senior and she was able

         11  to, after paying her house off with my father stay

         12  there because of the low taxes and low maintenance.

         13                 I moved into my original house, her

         14  house, a few years ago after her death, and I'm

         15  happy to be back in Sunnyside Gardens, and I'm in

         16  favor of landmarking, and with all the illegal

         17  things I've seen since I was ten years old, I would

         18  like to go back to some of those ways without the

         19  illegal driveways and McMansion types of houses.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 MR. ALLEN: Good afternoon. My name is

         22  Dan Allen. I have been a resident of Sunnyside

         23  Gardens for 15 years, first as a renter and

         24  subsequently as an owner of a single-family house.

         25  I'm here today to urge you to support landmark
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          2  designation for this remarkable place.

          3                 I think it's important when we talk

          4  about Sunnyside to remember some history. In 1965,

          5  the Landmarks Law was passed in New York City. This

          6  forward-looking legislation has worked successfully

          7  since then to protect the unique sense of place for

          8  many individual buildings and many districts. In

          9  1965, parts of Sunnyside Gardens were reaching their

         10  40th year. At this milestone, the easements that had

         11  carefully protected the shared open space and

         12  egalitarian architecture of the neighborhood were

         13  expiring.

         14                 For the first 40 years of its

         15  existence, Sunnyside Gardens was regulated by these

         16  covenants, put in place by their original designers

         17  and builders was a forerunner of the protection

         18  afforded by the landmarks law.

         19                 Ironically, just as this landmarks

         20  law came into being, protecting other districts,

         21  Sunnyside is suffering from the disappearance of its

         22  own protective easements. Communal open spaces were

         23  fenced off from the courtyards, gardens were paved

         24  over for driveways, and houses altered.

         25                 The first districts designated by the
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          2  Landmarks Commission after passage of the law were

          3  often districts full of high architecture. As time

          4  has passed, the preservation community and the

          5  Commission have increasingly realized the importance

          6  of preserving architecture for middle class people,

          7  as well as architecture built for the wealthy.

          8                 The Commission should be commended

          9  for its unanimous decision of just such a district

         10  -- I'm sorry, unanimous designation of just such a

         11  district built for working New Yorkers at Sunnyside.

         12                 The unique design of Sunnyside

         13  Gardens and its communal open space should be held

         14  up as an example of excellent humane urban design

         15  and planning.

         16                 Landmark designation has been long

         17  overdue for this place. But far better late than

         18  never. I urge you, along with the majority of my

         19  neighbors, our Borough President, our excellent City

         20  Councilman, and many others to vote to uphold this

         21  designation. We in Sunnyside are ready to accept

         22  both the honor and responsibility of designation.

         23                 Thank you.

         24                 MR. PERRIN: Good afternoon. My name

         25  is Gerry Perrin, and I'd like to approach this just
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          2  from the point of view of a single person who has

          3  spent their entire life in the community.

          4                 I was born in the community and I've

          5  lived there for 73 years as a lifelong resident of

          6  the Phipps Garden Apartments, which hasn't been

          7  mentioned really here much. This is part of the

          8  landmark designation and the character of it is very

          9  similar to the gardens in the sense of has a lot of

         10  open space, it was designed by the same architect,

         11  Clarence Stein, and it's contiguous with the gardens

         12  themselves.

         13                 There are 472 units in Phipps Garden

         14  Apartments, which means that it represents roughly

         15  30 percent of the total number of units under the

         16  designation that's been recommended. And my

         17  experience has been as all the way from a toddler

         18  playing in the Sunnyside Park through my years as a

         19  teenager when I was there almost every day playing

         20  basketball. I still belong to the park. My

         21  grandchildren go there when they visit. And that has

         22  been a very important element of my life, my time

         23  there.

         24                 I would like to see all of this

         25  preserved, and I don't think there is any need to go
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          2  into the pros of, the pluses of the gardens, because

          3  everybody else has done that. I also agree with the

          4  comments that were made that over the years certain

          5  alterations were made which were supposedly not

          6  allowed but somehow were not enforced. And the last

          7  thing I want to see is for the character of this

          8  neighborhood to change. The whole issue here seems

          9  to be what's the best way to accomplish that. And

         10  while there is disagreement on that. From my point

         11  of view, the previous designation has not seemed to

         12  control that adequately, and I would hope that

         13  landmark designation would do so. I'm in favor of

         14  that, and I certainly hope it can preserve the

         15  character of the neighborhood. Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Thank you very

         17  much.

         18                 Veronique Marcus, Catherine

         19  O'Flaherty, Jeremy Kereken and Arthur Pearson.

         20                 To be followed by Selvin Gootar,

         21  Mitchell Grubler, Lauren Belfer and Dorothy

         22  Morehead.

         23                 MS. MARCUS: Hi. I'm Veronique Marcus.

         24  I'm going to tell you a bit of my story. I emigrated

         25  from France to New York City 1982. My husband, who
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          2  was born and raised in Far Rockaway, and I raised

          3  our children, now 22 and 16, in Astoria for 20

          4  years. In 2002 we had the opportunity to buy our

          5  first home in Sunnyside Gardens. As a family we all

          6  experienced a real joy to live in this oasis of

          7  greenery, being able to experience each season and

          8  to actually interact with our neighbors.

          9                 In Sunnyside Gardens we found all

         10  these precious elements of quality of life without

         11  having to move far away from the City to the

         12  suburbs.

         13                 It is true that the architects of the

         14  Gardens planned the architecture as a modest

         15  component of the Gardens as a whole. However, they

         16  took great care in avoiding the burden of monotony

         17  by introducing subtle changes from house to house,

         18  block to block, particularly through the decoration

         19  of rooflines and the little patches of garden in

         20  front of each house.

         21                 These subtle changes contribute to

         22  make Sunnyside Garden a work of art, that was

         23  obviously conceived with a great amount of care and

         24  love.

         25                 It feels really good to live here.
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          2                 Given the disregard that some house

          3  owners exhibited toward the visual equilibrium

          4  inherent to Sunnyside Gardens, placing their own

          5  immediate interest before the interest of the

          6  community, I strongly believe that the Landmark

          7  Preservation Commission is the tool this community

          8  needs to maintain the peaceful equilibrium that

          9  makes Sunnyside Gardens such a special place to live

         10  in.

         11                 My family, husband and children and

         12  I, all are in support of the landmark designation.

         13                 Thank you.

         14                 MS. O'FLAHERTY: My name is Catherine

         15  O'Flaherty. I have lived in Sunnyside Gardens for

         16  the past eight years. Originally I am from Ireland.

         17  My husband and I moved here 18 years ago, and we

         18  have lived in the Sunnyside area for 18 years. So,

         19  we felt very welcome in this multi-ethnic community.

         20                 I am a strong supporter of the plan

         21  to landmark Sunnyside Gardens, as the landmarking is

         22  the only way to protect our home, our beautiful

         23  home, and the open courts from the rampant

         24  destruction that has recently been taking place

         25  since we've moved to Sunnyside Gardens. We have seen
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          2  many detrimental changes to the community.

          3                 I have spoken to approximately 75

          4  percent of my neighbors in Washington Court, and

          5  they have signed petitions in favor of landmarking.

          6  Many of them cannot be here today, obviously, and I

          7  have testimony here from some of them, actually ten

          8  people here from 45th Street, and I'll read some of

          9  that to you. I also speak on behalf of my husband

         10  Morgan, who unfortunately couldn't get off of work

         11  today to be here.

         12                 So, I urge the City Planning, you

         13  know, to help us, and the councilors to vote for us,

         14  and designate us.

         15                 Now I'd like to read some of the

         16  letters from my neighbors.

         17                 Richard Schwartz. "I have the good

         18  fortune of residing in Sunnyside Gardens for the

         19  past 27 years. I have come to cherish this

         20  community's significant aesthetic qualities and its

         21  contribution to the vitality and vibrancy of our

         22  City. Landmark Sunnyside Gardens to ensure the

         23  preservation of this very special place."

         24                 Laurie Peterson. "I am a homeowner in

         25  Sunnyside Gardens and support it being designated as
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          2  a landmarked district. I appreciate your work in

          3  this regard."

          4                 MR. KAREKEN: Council members and

          5  Chair, I want to say it's a real pleasure and an

          6  honor to come here and sit below a rapist and be

          7  called a Nazi, and be treated to a novel

          8  interpretation of the Fifth Amendment. I'm an actor

          9  and a playwright. My name is Jeremy Kareken. I live

         10  in Sunnyside. I have been a homeowner since 2002.

         11  And I just want to say, Councilman Gioia, I know you

         12  live outside of the designation, and if you want to

         13  trade, I wouldn't do it for all the money in the

         14  world.

         15                 Okay, look, these buildings are

         16  important, too. They are a crossroads between

         17  Shaker-style arts and crafts, implicity and

         18  socialist egalitarianism. They should be protected.

         19  They are living functional reminders to children,

         20  our grand children, that Platinas was wrong. You

         21  step into the same river every generation, or at

         22  least you cross the same one as the rents get too

         23  high. I understand developers, I understand what

         24  they do, why they do it, and I can see them looking

         25  at our moderate buildings, our moderate courtyard
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          2  land, and they just think luxury condos while they

          3  drool. But I'm here to ask that we seize the present

          4  to preserve the past for future generations. And I

          5  thank you all for listening.

          6                 MR. PEARSON: Good afternoon. My name

          7  is Arthur Pearson. My wife and I have lived in the

          8  Gardens now for 12 years, homeowners for nine. We

          9  came to the Gardens because we couldn't afford to

         10  live in Manhattan, and it's been a wonderful

         11  experience, the sense of community, the sense of

         12  place is like nothing else in this City. And while

         13  many of the folks here today have spoken in favor of

         14  landmarks and some have spoken against it, and have

         15  pointed to the preservation district that it

         16  currently is, they're saying that it's been

         17  effective in preserving the community. It really

         18  hasn't because in the last nine years that we've

         19  been owning homes, we've seen driveways, we've seen

         20  additions we've seen all kinds of changes that are

         21  not respectful. And, so, while we've had one method

         22  of protecting it that hasn't worked, we'd like to

         23  see a method that could work, protect it, and that's

         24  why we are in favor of landmarking.

         25                 Thank you.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: I just want to

          3  say something very briefly. As I mentioned, I

          4  knocked on a lot of doors, and Veronique, I have to

          5  say I distinctly remember knocking on your door

          6  because one of the difficulties of knocking on doors

          7  is that you go into people's homes and I was having

          8  such a nice time visiting with your family, I didn't

          9  want to leave, I recall, sitting in your back yard.

         10  And my staff was getting very agitated because it

         11  was killing my day, you know, in terms of knocking

         12  on doors through the neighborhood.

         13                 But your husband said something when

         14  I was there that really, it stuck with me, and he

         15  said that in all the years that he had lived in

         16  Astoria, and I don't remember how many years they

         17  were, but --

         18                 MS. MARCUS: Twenty.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Twenty years he

         20  had lived in Astoria, he said in the few years he

         21  had lived in Sunnyside Gardens he had gotten so many

         22  more neighbors, and it felt in just a few years much

         23  more like home than Astoria ever had. And I thought

         24  right there that captured the exact spirit of what

         25  our neighborhood is all about, and I wanted to thank

                                                            160

          1  LANDMARKS, PUBLIC SITING AND MARITIME USES

          2  you for sharing your family time with me. Thank you.

          3                 MS. MARCUS: Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Selvin Gootar,

          5  Mitchell Grubler, Lauren Belfer, and Dorothy

          6  Morehead.

          7                 To be followed by our final panel,

          8  William Eichhorn, Jr., Dorothy Cavallo and Fiona

          9  Lowenstein. If there is somebody's name who I did

         10  not call who wishes to testify, please make sure you

         11  fill out a slip and give it to the Sergeant-At-Arms.

         12                 MS. MOREHEAD: Hi. My name is Dorothy

         13  Morehead. I've been a resident of Sunnyside Gardens

         14  since 1968. I was a tenant for seven years and then

         15  was very fortunate to buy my house on the very same

         16  block, and I've been there ever since.

         17                 You know, when people were trying to

         18  decide what pornography was, people said well --

         19  they had a hard time defining it but they knew it

         20  when they saw it. Well, I'd like to use that kind of

         21  analogy to good City planning. You can look at a

         22  street map, you can look at buildings, you can look

         23  at how many trees are on a street, but you don't

         24  know it til you see it, til you're there. And I know

         25  when I first walked down 46th Street, that was home
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          2  to me, and I love it and I'd like to see it

          3  preserved.

          4                 I serve on the community board. I've

          5  been there for 13, 14 years, in all that time when

          6  we had the ULURP zoning, the planned community

          7  preservation district zoning in place, there were

          8  two ULURP applications that were filed. Only two.

          9  And there have been dozens of changes that have been

         10  made to the properties within the gardens with

         11  little or no penalty, people chose to obey the law

         12  or they didn't. So, I have to say that certainly the

         13  planned community preservation status did preserve

         14  us from major developments. Nobody could take down a

         15  building and put up a high-rise, but it really

         16  didn't help on a lot of other things like driveways

         17  and extensions and decks and things like that, and

         18  it certainly didn't regulate windows.

         19                 And one other thing is that, you

         20  know, communities, most of them do not fall en masse

         21  with the bulldozer. They fall one building at a

         22  time. And when you see a lot of little changes,

         23  suddenly the architectural value is gone. Once in

         24  awhile you'll see, for instance, on 36th Street in

         25  Astoria, one building on the block changed the
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          2  entire street scape for the whole block, and it

          3  really made a huge difference. I have mixed

          4  feelings. I happen to have all my old original

          5  windows. I love them. And I think if I take care of

          6  them, they have another 80 years left in them. They

          7  were very well built. The houses were well built

          8  when they were first originally designed. My dad,

          9  who was an architect, said it would cost twice as

         10  much to build as it did to buy the house when I

         11  bought it, and it's really an architectural legacy,

         12  as well as I hope that the real spirit of Sunnyside

         13  Gardens will come back when some of the animosity

         14  wears off, but it's a wonderful place to live and

         15  raise children, or not, people move there who don't

         16  have children. It's a great place and I definitely

         17  support strongly the landmarking effort.

         18                 MR. GRUBLER: Good afternoon. My name

         19  is Mitchell Grubler. I am the Chairman of the Queens

         20  Preservation Council, and I have been authorized by

         21  the QPC to testify before you today in favor of the

         22  proposed historic district.

         23                 The Queens Preservation Council was

         24  organized by Borough Historian and former Queens

         25  Historical Society President Stanley Cogan. It is
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          2  composed of representatives from civic associations,

          3  neighborhood groups and historical organizations

          4  concerned with the quality of life for Queens

          5  residents, as it is affected by the built

          6  environment.

          7                 Because mostly rural Queens was

          8  largely undeveloped until the advent of the 20th

          9  century, the availability of large tract land and

         10  its proximity to Manhattan result in three unique

         11  and distinctive neighborhoods that remain the pride

         12  of the Borough. All three are testaments to the

         13  talents of planners, architects, builders who

         14  created bold new visions for neighborhoods of middle

         15  class families with a comfortable human scale and

         16  abundant landscaped open spaces. All three remain

         17  highly desirable today, due to both special design

         18  qualities and to the care and pride which their

         19  residents take in their uniquely livable

         20  communities.

         21                 The first generation of the three

         22  communities is Jackson Heights, a good portion of

         23  which is already a New York City historic district.

         24  What are its most important features is the

         25  landscaped mid-block parks, expertly designed open
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          2  spaces shared by all residents of the apartment

          3  block.

          4                 Sunnyside Gardens is the next

          5  generation inheriter of that concept of creating

          6  livable communities for middle class families by

          7  building in abundant landscape open spaces.

          8                 As a matter of fact, well, the third

          9  generation of livable planned communities in Queens

         10  is historic Parkway Village. Assisted by Robert

         11  Moses, Rockefeller and Mayor O'Dwyer, it was built

         12  in 1947 to house the new United Nations' workers. A

         13  factor in the decision to base the UN in New York.

         14  All three neighborhoods are worthy of landmark

         15  designation. Thank you.

         16                 MS. BELFER: Hello. My name is Lauren

         17  Belfer, and I'll be reading testimony for 11

         18  Sunnyside residents who could not be here today,

         19  including Leonard Grossman, Gratsiella Parall,

         20  Martha Kent, John O'Leary, Patricia Dorfman,

         21  Jennifer Fraga, Lauren Kresnoff, Elizabeth Kennedy

         22  and Marcy Brennan.

         23                 From Maura Fitzgerald of 47th Street,

         24  "I urge you to support the recent Landmarks

         25  Preservation decision to landmark Sunnyside Garden.
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          2  I have listened carefully to arguments on all sides

          3  of this debate and have come to believe that

          4  landmarking is the best way to preserve the

          5  neighborhood's special characteristics.

          6                 I would also like to note that I have

          7  seen the movement to landmark the neighborhood arise

          8  out of a concerted effort of a diverse group of my

          9  neighbors in the district who have worked hard and

         10  volunteered their time at countless neighborhood

         11  events over a period of many years, to garner

         12  support for landmarking. I have been very impressed

         13  by this grassroots effort."

         14                 And from Betty Gormery of 48th

         15  Street,"I have lived in Sunnyside Gardens since I

         16  purchased my home in Jefferson Port in 1969. I have

         17  been very happy here because of the various legal

         18  protections that have kept the houses and gardens

         19  unaltered. However, this protection has been

         20  slipping away because of lack of enforcement.

         21                 Please vote in favor of landmarks

         22  designation for Sunnyside Gardens."

         23                 MS. LOWENSTEIN: Good afternoon. My

         24  name is Fiona Lowenstein and I'm 13 years old. I do

         25  not live in Sunnyside Gardens, but my grandfather
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          2  lived in Sunnyside Gardens when he was a young boy,

          3  and his father, my great great grandfather, also

          4  lived in Sunnyside Gardens when he was just starting

          5  the family. And his father, my great great

          6  grandfather, lived in Sunnyside Gardens too. In

          7  fact, his name was Henry Wright, and he designed

          8  Sunnyside Gardens back in 1924 with his partner

          9  Clarence Stein.

         10                 I'm not here to speak for my

         11  grandfather, nor am I here to be paraded in front of

         12  the Committee, however, I want to share some of his

         13  beliefs and ideas so the Council can make the best

         14  decision.

         15                 Henry Wright came from a family of

         16  Quakers. He was raised to believe in sharing with

         17  others, and in the equality of all people. He

         18  believed in the idea of people working together as a

         19  community.

         20                 Henry Wright had these goals in mind

         21  when he designed Sunnyside Gardens. I am lucky

         22  enough to have a diary my great great grandfather

         23  wrote when he was only 16 years old in 1894.

         24                 It tells the story of his first trip

         25  to the East Coast from Missouri with his family. It
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          2  is filled with his drawings and writings about

          3  architecture and communities. Even as a teenager he

          4  was obviously already starting on his most important

          5  ideas.

          6                 Henry Wright hoped to convince many

          7  different kinds of people to work together, to live

          8  together, to get to know each other and reach common

          9  goals.

         10                 In order to do this, he and Clarence

         11  Stein broke a lot of the so-called rules of

         12  designing a community. They designed houses of

         13  different sizes and prices. This was so that

         14  families of different sizes and incomes would be

         15  able to live there.

         16                 They didn't make much private land.

         17  Instead, they designed shared gardens and a park.

         18  They even managed to add decoration to the buildings

         19  and keep them from all looking the same without

         20  spending extra money.

         21                 For example, some of the houses are

         22  set back further than others, and they all have

         23  different brick patterns. Sunnyside Gardens was the

         24  first community Henry Wright ever designed, but he

         25  had a lot of vision. He had already helped to design
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          2  a Louisiana Purchase Exposition of the World's Fair

          3  in 1902 when he was only 23 years old, just ten

          4  years older than I am now. We like to start projects

          5  young in my family.

          6                 When he first began to plan Sunnyside

          7  Gardens he wanted to get rid of the grid pattern of

          8  the streets. He thought this would be a good way to

          9  create parks and gardens and to arrange buildings in

         10  a way that would be interesting. As I said, he had a

         11  lot of vision.

         12                 Unfortunately, the local government

         13  didn't completely share his vision, because they

         14  wouldn't let him get rid of the grid pattern.

         15  Fortunately, Henry Wright found a way to work with

         16  the grid pattern and still reach his goals for the

         17  community. I guess the government agency in charge

         18  just didn't have the ability to see how great Henry

         19  Wright's ideas were back then. Luckily today another

         20  government agency has the chance. Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Thank you, Fiona.

         22                 The final panel is Selvin Gootar,

         23  William Eichhorn, Jr., and Dorothy Cavallo.

         24                 MR. GOOTAR: Chairman Lappin, members

         25  of the City Council, good afternoon. My name is
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          2  Selvin Gootar. My wife and I have lived in Sunnyside

          3  Gardens for 20 years. We've been a homeowner since

          4  1993. We've owned a home in Sunnyside Gardens for 14

          5  years. It's a lovely community. We love living

          6  there. We wouldn't live any place else.

          7                 In our view, granting landmark status

          8  to Sunnyside Gardens would be the best way to

          9  preserve this neighborhood, to preserve it from

         10  those who want to pave over their loans, install

         11  curbcuts, car ports, and totally change the

         12  character of this wonderful enclave in the heart of

         13  New York City, but not to preserve it in amber. I am

         14  hopeful that landmarking Sunnyside Gardens will also

         15  have another positive effect. It would allow

         16  homeowners to apply for and make legitimate legal

         17  changes to their homes. Right now with regulations

         18  from the Department of Buildings, and the Department

         19  of City Planning, because Sunnyside Gardens was

         20  designated as special plan community preservation

         21  district in July of 1974, people have made changes

         22  over the years to their homes and in many cases

         23  disregarded applying for permits because of the

         24  onerous application process.

         25                 I'm glad that Chairman Tierney and
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          2  Councilman Gioia have acknowledged this. I sincerely

          3  hope that if Sunnyside Gardens is landmarked the

          4  process will be streamlined, and under the Landmarks

          5  Preservation Commission, it will allow homeowners to

          6  make legitimate, legal changes to their homes. In

          7  this way Sunnyside Gardens will continue to be a

          8  neighborhood that embraces the legacy of its

          9  original founders, but also understands the needs

         10  and desires of homeowners in the present.

         11                 I might also say that this is not

         12  some dark plot by people in favor of landmarking to

         13  make sure that violations are issued to those

         14  against landmarking. I'm in favor of landmarking and

         15  I recently received a violation for my deck, which

         16  was very surprising to my wife and myself, since we

         17  bought the house 14 years ago, the deck came with

         18  the house, and the deck was probably 20 years ago,

         19  so my wife was not a happy camper when she came home

         20  and saw duck tape on the front of our door, a

         21  violation from the DOB. So, it's not only those that

         22  are against landmarking, people who are in favor of

         23  landmarking have also gotten violations from the

         24  Department of Buildings.

         25                 Thank you.
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          2                 MS. CAVALLO: Good afternoon. My name

          3  is Dorothy Cavallo. I am currently the co-president

          4  of the Phipps Tenant Association, a founder of that

          5  organization, also 26 years ago, one of the group of

          6  ten founders, and I also serve on the board of

          7  Sunnyside Gardens Community Association known fondly

          8  as Sunnyside Park, but I guess I want to speak for

          9  Dorothy first, and my husband Charles. We first came

         10  to Sunnyside on our wedding night. We, through a

         11  real estate agent, found an affordable apartment on

         12  50th Street. Albeit, across the street from the

         13  Gardens, actually down the block from where Eric

         14  Gioia grew up right next to the Phipps Nursery

         15  School outdoor playground. And little did I know at

         16  19 years of age what an oasis I was falling into,

         17  and we have been residents of the Phipps Houses for

         18  42 years, raising two sons, and feel very privileged

         19  to be a part of this community, and in so doing feel

         20  a great responsibility and my husband and I, as

         21  members and volunteers at Sunnyside Park, maintain

         22  the front entrance gardens for better or worse,

         23  depending on our health, to maintain that quality of

         24  life, that oasis. It is so much cooler in Sunnyside

         25  Gardens, and as you make your way south to Queens
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          2  Boulevard in the summer heat, you know what an oasis

          3  we have. And we have seen the chipping away at the

          4  architecture, the paving of the driveways, and the

          5  extensions on the houses, et ceter, et cetera.

          6                 I was a historia native, and I see

          7  what has happened, the raping of my community. I

          8  don't want to see it happen here.

          9                 As tenants, I know people feel we're

         10  transients, but Phipps Houses has a remarkable

         11  history of long-time tenancy, and I actually am one

         12  of the younger ones, people are there many years

         13  longer than I and my husband. Thank you. Please

         14  landmark.

         15                 MR. EICHHORN: I'm Bill Eichhorn, the

         16  Treasurer of the Phipps Garden Apartments Tenants

         17  Association. I don't come before you with any

         18  special credentials or expertise, but just wanted to

         19  express my love for the community and my neighbors.

         20                 I was born in Sunnyside Gardens. I've

         21  lived there almost 60 years now. My parents moved

         22  away when I was 11 for some personal family reasons.

         23  I moved back when I got married, raised three

         24  children there, had four cousins living there, aunts

         25  and uncles, two of whom were original homeowners. I
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          2  love the Gardens and I'm here primarily to express

          3  my feelings for it and hope that it retains the

          4  character that it's had all these years.

          5                 So, I'm much, very much in favor of

          6  the landmark.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Thank you very

          8  much. You get the last word.

          9                 Thank you, everyone, who took the

         10  time to come and testify. We appreciate that. This

         11  hearing is now closed. The hearing is closed, the

         12  meeting is recessed until the 17th at 9:45 a.m.

         13  Thank you.

         14                 (Hearing concluded at 2:10 p.m.)
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